QUASI-CLASSICAL GROUND STATES. II. STANDARD MODEL OF NON-RELATIVISTIC QED

SÉBASTIEN BRETEAUX, JÉRÉMY FAUPIN, AND JIMMY PAYET

ABSTRACT. We consider a non-relativistic electron bound by an external potential and coupled to the quantized electromagnetic field in the standard model of non-relativistic QED. We compute the energy functional of product states of the form $u \otimes \Psi_f$, where u is a normalized state for the electron and Ψ_f is a coherent state in Fock space for the photon field. The minimization of this functional yields a Maxwell–Schrödinger system up to a trivial renormalization. We prove the existence of a ground state under general conditions on the external potential and the coupling. In particular, neither an ultraviolet cutoff nor an infrared cutoff needs to be imposed. Our results provide the convergence in the ultraviolet limit and the second-order asymptotic expansion in the coupling constant of the ground state energy of Maxwell–Schrödinger systems.

Contents

1. Introduction	2
1.1. The electronic Hamiltonian	4
1.2. Standard model of non-relativistic QED	5
1.3. The Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional	6
1.4. Main results	7
1.5. Organisation of the paper	10
2. Preliminaries	10
2.1. Estimates on the electronic part	10
2.2. Functional inequalities in Lorentz spaces	11
3. Proofs of the main results	14
3.1. Reduction to the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional	14
3.2. Coercivity, energy gap and existence of a minimizer	19
3.3. Properties of the set of minimizers	24
3.4. Expansion of the minimum at small coupling	26
3.5. Ultraviolet limit of the ground state energies	28
Appendix A. Operators in Fock space, self-adjointness	29
References	31

1. INTRODUCTION

We consider in this paper a non-relativistic spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ particle (an electron) minimally coupled to the quantized radiation field in the standard model of non-relativistic quantum electrodynamics, with an external potential V. This physical system is mathematically described by a Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} , introduced in [44], whose spectral and scattering theories have been thoroughly studied since the end of the nineties (see, among others, [2, 5, 6, 19, 21, 25, 26, 29, 47, 48] and references therein). To be well-defined, the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} requires an unphysical regularization: the interaction term comes with an ultraviolet cutoff. Finding a renormalization procedure leading to the definition of the model in the ultraviolet limit remains an important open problem.

Restricting the energy functional associated to \mathbb{H} to well-chosen classes of states allows one to study the energy and its infimum more easily. In the translation invariant case (V = 0), considering the set of general product states $u \otimes \Psi$ where the state u of the electron is a unit vector in the Hilbert space $\mathcal{H}_{el} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^2)$ and the state Ψ of the photon field is a unit vector in Fock space, the ultraviolet divergence of the infimum of the energy functional $\langle (u \otimes \Psi), \mathbb{H}(u \otimes \Psi) \rangle$ has been studied by Lieb and Loss in [35], and by Bach and Hach in [7]. Denoting by Λ the ultraviolet parameter associated to the ultraviolet cutoff introduced into the interaction Hamiltonian, it is shown in [7, 35] that the corresponding ground state energy diverges as $\Lambda^{12/7}$ in the ultraviolet limit. Also in the translation invariant case, at a fixed total momentum, the existence and uniqueness of a minimizer of the energy functional over coherent or quasifree states has been studied in [3].

Product states of the form $u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}$, with $\Psi_{\vec{f}}$ a coherent state parametrized by vectors \vec{f} in the one-particle Hilbert space \mathfrak{h} for the field, have been considered in [14–17]. The energy functional

$$(u,f) \mapsto \langle (u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}), \mathbb{H}(u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}) \rangle \tag{1.1}$$

is then called the *quasi-classical energy*. Indeed, assuming that the field degrees of freedom are 'almost classical', in the sense that the creation and annihilation operators a^* , a are rescaled as $a_{\varepsilon}^* = \sqrt{\varepsilon}a^*$, $a_{\varepsilon} = \sqrt{\varepsilon}a$ (see also [1]), it is shown in [14–17], under suitable assumptions, that the ground state energy of the rescaled Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian \mathbb{H}_{ε} converges to the infimum of the quasi-classical energy functional as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

In this paper, we also consider the quasi-classical energy functional (1.1). Up to a trivial renormalization, we will see that minimizing (1.1) boils down to minimizing $\mathcal{E}_V(u, \vec{A}_{\vec{f}})$, for some \vec{f} -dependent magnetic potential $\vec{A}_{\vec{f}}$, where $\mathcal{E}_V(u, \vec{A})$ is the Maxwell-Schrödinger energy in the Coulomb gauge, given by

$$\mathcal{E}_{V}(u,\vec{A}) = \|\vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}) u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \langle u, Vu \rangle_{L^{2}} + \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2}.$$
 (1.2)

Here $\vec{\sigma}$ is the vector of Pauli matrices, g is a coupling constant and χ a coupling function. The coefficient $(32\pi^3)^{-1}$ comes from our choice of normalization of the Fourier transform, see below.

For a general class of external potentials V (including both binding and confining potentials) and coupling functions χ , we prove the existence of a ground state for \mathcal{E}_V . In particular, neither an infrared nor an ultraviolet cutoff is needed in the interaction term of the energy. Furthermore, if an ultraviolet cutoff of parameter Λ is imposed, our results show that the ground state energy converges in \mathbb{R} , as $\Lambda \to \infty$.

To prove the existence of a quasi-classical ground state, we follow the usual strategy of the calculus of variations. The main difficulty comes from the possible absence of an ultraviolet cutoff. This induces singular terms with a critical behavior in the energy functional that we handle using suitable estimates in Lorentz spaces. Note that Kramer's symmetry of the Maxwell-Schrödinger energy functional implies that the minimizer is not unique (even up to a phase in u).

In [20], Fröhlich, Lieb and Loss studied the minimization problem of similar energy functionals. Compared to [20], our results provide the existence of a ground state for large classes of external potentials and coupling terms, and allow us to pass to the ultraviolet limit. Moreover, we compute the second order asymptotic expansion at small coupling of the ground state energy.

In the companion paper [12], we study the same problem in the case of a spinless, nonrelativistic particle linearly coupled to a scalar, quantized radiation field. Although the overall strategies in [12] and the present paper are similar, the arguments used in the proofs are significantly different. In particular, in the case of linear coupling, an easy argument shows that the minimization of the quasi-classical ground state energy reduces to the minimization of the Hartree energy (over the state u of the non-relativistic particle). In the present context such a simplification does not occur: We have to minimize (1.2) over (u, \vec{A}) in suitable spaces, with the constraint $||u||_{L^2} = 1$ for the electron state and no constraint on the divergence-free vector potential \vec{A} in \dot{H}^1 . Note however that some technical results concerning the electronic Hamiltonian are used both in [12] and in this paper. They are stated here without proof.

We have focused in this work on the static problem, but the dynamical version, the Maxwell–Schrödinger equations, has of course been also largely studied in the literature. In particular, the Maxwell–Schrödinger equations have been derived in [41], where results on the existence of solutions have been proven. The dynamics of the Maxwell–Schrödinger equations has been further studied in [8, 9, 13, 22, 27, 32, 38, 40, 42, 46, 49, 50]. In relation with many-body systems, the Maxwell–Schrödinger equations have been obtained from many-body dynamics in [34], see also [16].

Notations. We recall that for $1 \leq p < \infty$, the Lorentz spaces (or weak L^p spaces) $L^{p,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ are defined as the set of (equivalence classes of) measurable functions $f : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$||f||_{L^{p,\infty}} := \sup_{t>0} \lambda \left(\{|f|>t\}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} t, \tag{1.3}$$

is finite, where λ denotes Lebesgue's measure.

The Fourier transform acting on tempered distribution is denoted by \mathcal{F} , its inverse being given by $(2\pi)^{-3}\overline{\mathcal{F}}$. (We use the normalization $\mathcal{F}(f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{-ix\cdot\xi} f(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi$ for f in $L^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$, and hence $\overline{\mathcal{F}}(f)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{ix\cdot\xi} f(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi$. This normalization is not the standard one but it will be convenient in our context.) Throughout the paper, we use the following convention about the convolution product. Let f and g be functions associated to tempered distributions. Assume that $\mathcal{F}(g)$ identifies with a function such that $f\mathcal{F}(g)$ can be associated to a tempered distribution. We write

$$\mathcal{F}(f) * g := (2\pi)^{-3} \mathcal{F}(f\bar{\mathcal{F}}(g)). \tag{1.4}$$

This convention is convenient in our context. It extends the well-known equality which holds e.g. if f and g are in L^1 or f is in L^2 and g in L^1 .

In several places, we use localization functions η and $\tilde{\eta}$ in $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ such that $\eta(x) = 1$ if $|x| \leq 1$, $\eta(x) = 0$ if $|x| \geq 2$ and

$$\eta^2 + \tilde{\eta}^2 = 1$$

For all R > 0, we set

$$\eta_R(x) := \eta(x/R) \quad \text{and} \quad \tilde{\eta}_R(x) := \tilde{\eta}(x/R) \,.$$

$$(1.5)$$

If \mathcal{H}_1 , \mathcal{H}_2 are two Hilbert spaces, $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_2)$ stands for the set of bounded linear operators from \mathcal{H}_1 to \mathcal{H}_2 . Given a linear operator A on a Hilbert space \mathcal{H} , we denote by $\mathcal{D}(A)$ its domain and $\mathcal{Q}(A)$ its form domain. The topological dual of a Banach space \mathcal{B} is denoted by \mathcal{B}^* .

1.1. The electronic Hamiltonian. If the coupling between the electron and the photon field is turned out, the free Hamiltonian for the electron is of the form

$$\begin{pmatrix} H_V & 0\\ 0 & H_V \end{pmatrix} \quad \text{on} \quad \mathcal{H}_{\text{el}} := L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^2) = L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}) \oplus L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}),$$

where

$$H_V := -\Delta + V(x) \tag{1.6}$$

is defined on a domain contained in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C})$. Here $V : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ is the external potential. We display the dependence on V since one of our main hypotheses (see Hypothesis 1) assumes the existence of a decomposition $V = V_1 + V_2$ such that $V_1 \ge 0$, V_2 vanishes at ∞ and there is a gap between the ground state energies of H_V and H_{V_1} .

The main examples we have in mind are confining potentials, $V(x) \to \infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$, and Coulomb-type potentials, $V(x) = -c|x|^{-1}$ with c > 0. We introduce general hypotheses on V that are fulfilled by a large class of potentials, including the two preceding examples. As we will see below, some of our main results have interesting consequences in special cases, especially when V is confining.

We set

$$\mu_V := \inf \sigma(H_V),$$

and likewise if V is replaced by another potential. For $U: \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$, we denote by

$$U_{+} := \max(U, 0), \quad U_{-} := \max(-U, 0),$$

the positive and negative parts of U, respectively, so that $U = U_+ - U_-$.

We make the following hypothesis.

Hypothesis 1 (Conditions on V). The potential V satisfies V(x) = V(-x) for all x in \mathbb{R}^3 and there exist $a \ge 0$ and b in \mathbb{R} such that

$$V_{-} \le a\sqrt{-\Delta} + b$$

in the sense of quadratic forms on $H^{1/2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Moreover, V decomposes as $V = V_1 + V_2$ with (i) $V_1 \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^+)$, (ii) $V_2 \in L^{3/2}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R})$ and $\lim_{|x|\to\infty} V_2(x) = 0$. Since $V_+ \geq 0$, $H_{V_+} = -\Delta + V_+$ identifies with a non-negative self-adjoint operator on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ with form domain

$$\mathcal{Q}(H_{V_+}) = \mathcal{Q}(-\Delta) \cap \mathcal{Q}(V_+) = \left\{ u \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^3), \ \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} V_+(x) |u(x)|^2 \, \mathrm{d}x < +\infty \right\}.$$

Moreover, it follows from Hypothesis 1 that H_V identifies with a semi-bounded self-adjoint operator with form domain $\mathcal{Q}(H_V) = \mathcal{Q}(H_{V_+}) = \mathcal{Q}(H_{V_1})$. In particular, μ_V and μ_{V_1} are well-defined. See Section 2.1 for justifications.

The state of the electron is represented by a unit vector in the space $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^2)$. We set

$$\mathcal{Q}_V := \mathcal{Q}(H_V) \otimes \mathbb{C}^2, \qquad (1.7)$$

and note that \mathcal{Q}_V is a Hilbert space for the norm

$$||u||_{\mathcal{Q}_V}^2 := ||u||_{H^1}^2 + ||(V_+)^{\frac{1}{2}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2} u||_{L^2}^2.$$

We will most of the time consider an electron state u in

$$\mathcal{U} := \{ u \in \mathcal{Q}_V \mid \|u\|_{L^2} = 1 \}.$$
(1.8)

Finally, in order to obtain the asymptotic expansion of the infimum of the Maxwell-Schrödinger energy functional with respect to the coupling constant, we will require that H_V has a unique ground state. By Perron-Frobenius arguments, it is well-known that, under suitable conditions on V, if μ_V is an eigenvalue of H_V then it is simple and there exists a corresponding strictly positive eigenstate (see e.g. [45, Theorems XIII.46 and XIII.48]). We will make the following related hypothesis.

Hypothesis 2 (Ground state of H_V). The ground state energy μ_V of $H_V = -\Delta + V$ is a simple isolated eigenvalue associated to a unique positive ground state u_V belonging to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}_+)$ and such that $\|u_V\|_{L^2} = 1$.

The orthogonal projection onto the vector space spanned by $\begin{pmatrix} u_V \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$ and $\begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ u_V \end{pmatrix}$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^2)$ is denoted by Π_V . We also set $\Pi_V^{\perp} := \mathbf{I}_{L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^2)} - \Pi_V$.

1.2. Standard model of non-relativistic QED. In the standard model of non-relativistic QED, the quantized electromagnetic field is represented by a vector-valued bosonic field whose Hilbert space is given by the symmetric Fock space

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{f}} := \mathfrak{F}_{s}(L^{2}_{\perp}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{C}^{3})) = \bigoplus_{n=0}^{+\infty} \bigvee^{n} L^{2}_{\perp}(\mathbb{R}^{3};\mathbb{C}^{3})$$

where $L^2_{\perp}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^3) = \{\vec{f} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^3) \mid \forall k \in \mathbb{R}^3, k \cdot \vec{f}(k) = 0\}$. The free field Hamiltonian in momentum representation is the second quantization of the multiplication operator by the euclidean norm of k,

$$\mathbb{H}_{\mathbf{f}} := \mathrm{d}\Gamma(|k|)$$

The kinetic energy of the electron minimally coupled to the field is given by the following expression, which is quadratic in the creation and annihilation operators,

$$\left(\vec{\sigma}\cdot\left(-i\vec{\nabla}_x\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}}-\vec{\mathbb{A}}(\vec{m}_x)\right)\right)^2,$$

where

$$\hat{\mathbb{A}}(\vec{m}_x) := (a(\vec{m}_{x,j}) + a^*(\vec{m}_{x,j}))_{1 \le j \le 3}$$

has three components, corresponding to the three components for $1 \le j \le 3$ of the coupling functions

$$ec{m}_{x,j}(k, au) := g rac{\chi(k)}{|k|^{1/2}} e^{-ik \cdot x} ec{arepsilon}_{ au,j}(k)$$

and the Pauli matrices are

$$\sigma_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \sigma_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \sigma_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$$

The coupling functions are defined using a family $(\vec{\varepsilon}_{\tau}(k))_{\tau \in \{1,2,3\}}$ of polarization vectors, i.e. orthonormal bases of \mathbb{R}^3 depending on k in $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{\vec{0}\}$ and such that $\vec{\varepsilon}_3(k) = k/|k|$, a coupling constant g in \mathbb{R} and an ultraviolet cutoff function χ such that $\chi/|k|^{1/2}$ and $\chi/|k|$ are both in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Note, though, that these conditions on χ will be relaxed to some extent in our study of the Maxwell–Schrödinger functional.

The Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian of the standard model of non-relativistic QED is given by

$$\mathbb{H} := \left(\vec{\sigma} \cdot \left(-i\vec{\nabla}_x \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} - \vec{\mathbb{A}}(\vec{m}_x)\right)\right)^2 + V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{f}}$$
$$= \left(-i\vec{\nabla}_x \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} - \vec{\mathbb{A}}(\vec{m}_x)\right)^2 - \vec{\sigma} \cdot \sqrt{2}\Phi(\vec{\nabla}_x \wedge \vec{m}_x) + V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{f}}, \quad (1.9)$$

where the normalization of the field operator is given in the Appendix, see (A.1). The operator \mathbb{H} on $\mathcal{H}_{el} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{f} = L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}; \mathbb{C}) \otimes \mathbb{C}^{2} \otimes \mathcal{H}_{f}$ identifies with a self-adjoint operator with form domain

$$\mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H}) := \mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H}_{\text{free}}), \quad \mathbb{H}_{\text{free}} := H_V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\text{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\text{el}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{\text{f}}, \tag{1.10}$$

see Appendix A, where H_V is defined in (1.6). Under suitable assumptions on V and χ , one can actually check that $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{H}) := \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{H}_{\text{free}})$, see [28, 30].

1.3. The Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional. We take u in \mathcal{U} and consider a coherent state

$$\Psi_{\vec{f}} = e^{i\Phi(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{i}\vec{f})} \Omega \in \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{f}}$$

with parameter \vec{f} in $L^2_{\perp}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^3) \cap \mathcal{Z}$. Here

$$\mathcal{Z} := \left\{ \vec{f}(k) = \sum_{1 \le \tau \le 2} f_{\tau}(k) \vec{\varepsilon_{\tau}}(k) \mid k \mapsto |k|^{1/2} \vec{f}(k) \in L^{2}(\mathbb{R}^{3}, \mathrm{d}k) \right\}.$$
 (1.11)

A direct computation (see Section 3.1) yields the following formula for the energy of the product state $u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}$ assuming that $\chi(-k) = \overline{\chi(k)}$:

$$\left\langle (u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}), \mathbb{H}(u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = 2g^2 |||k|^{-1/2} \chi(k)||_{L^2}^2 + \left\langle \vec{f}_{-}, |k|\vec{f}_{-}\right\rangle_{L^2} + \mathcal{E}_V(u, \vec{A}_{\vec{f}}), \tag{1.12}$$

where \mathcal{E}_V is defined by (1.2),

$$\vec{A}_{\vec{f}} := 2\mathcal{F}(\vec{f}_{+}(k)|k|^{-1/2}), \qquad (1.13)$$

and we have set $\vec{f}_+(k) := \frac{1}{2}(\vec{f}(k) + \overline{\vec{f}(-k)}), \ \vec{f}_-(k) := \frac{1}{2}(\vec{f}(k) - \overline{\vec{f}(-k)}).$ Note that

$$\mathcal{E}_{V}(u,\vec{A}) = \|(-i\vec{\nabla} - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}) u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \langle u, (V - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{\sigma} \cdot \vec{B})u \rangle_{L^{2}} + \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2}, \qquad (1.14)$$

with $\vec{B} = \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A}$. We thus obtain the stationary Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional in the Coulomb gauge introduced in [41], which we refer to as the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional.

If V(x) = V(-x), this energy functional is invariant under Kramer's symmetry,

$$\mathcal{E}_V(\nu u, \vec{A}(-\cdot)) = \mathcal{E}_V(u, \vec{A}), \tag{1.15}$$

where $\nu u(x) = \sigma_2 \overline{u(-x)}$, see [39]. Hence, in general, we can only hope for uniqueness of the minimizer modulo this symmetry.

As we will see in Section 3, the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional is well-defined when (u, \vec{A}) belongs to $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$, where

$$\mathcal{A} := \{ \vec{A} \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3) \mid \vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{A} = 0 \}$$

$$(1.16)$$

and χ satisfies the following assumption:

Hypothesis 3 (Conditions on χ). The cutoff function $\chi : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfies $\chi(-k) = \chi(k)$ for all k in \mathbb{R}^3 and

$$\frac{\chi}{|k|} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3) + L^{3,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3) \,.$$

Remark 1.1. At the expense of slightly more involved expressions in some places, our main results below hold under the more general assumption that χ is complex-valued and satisfies $\chi(-k) = \overline{\chi(k)}$ for all k in \mathbb{R}^3 .

The main quantity studied in this paper is

$$E_U := \inf_{\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}_U \,,$$

with U a potential satisfying Hypothesis 1.

1.4. Main results. We begin with the following proposition which relates minimizers of the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional to minimizers of the energy of product states $u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}$ in the standard model of non-relativistic QED.

Proposition 1.2. Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that χ satisfies Hypothesis 3. If $(u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}_{\rm gs})$ is a global minimizer of \mathcal{E}_V over $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$, then there exists $\vec{f}_{\rm gs}$ in $L^2_{\perp}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^3) \cap \mathcal{Z}$ such that $\vec{A}_{\rm gs} = \vec{A}_{\vec{f}_{\rm gs}}$ in the sense of (1.13).

This result shows that, up to the trivial renormalization consisting in removing the χ dependent constant obtained from normal-ordering the Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} , the minimizers of the energy of product states $u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}$ in the standard model of non-relativistic QED can be computed via the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional. More precisely,

$$\min_{(u,\vec{f})\in\mathcal{U}\times(L^2_{\perp}\cap\mathcal{Z})}\left\langle (u\otimes\Psi_{\vec{f}}),\mathbb{H}(u\otimes\Psi_{\vec{f}})\right\rangle - 2g^2 \left\|\frac{\chi(k)}{\sqrt{|k|}}\right\|_{L^2}^2 = \min_{(u,\vec{A})\in\mathcal{U}\times\mathcal{A}}\mathcal{E}_V(u,\vec{A}), \tag{1.17}$$

the minimizers in both sides of the equality (if they exist) being related as in (1.13).

Our main result concerning the existence of a minimizer for \mathcal{E}_V is the following.

Theorem 1.3 (Existence of a ground state for Maxwell–Schrödinger). Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that $\chi = \chi_1 + \chi_2$ satisfies Hypothesis 3 with $\chi_1/|k|$ in L^2 and $\chi_2/|k|$ in $L^{3,\infty}$. Suppose that the decomposition $V = V_1 + V_2$ of Hypothesis 1 can be chosen such that $E_{V_1} > E_V$. With the constant $a \ge 0$ from Hypothesis 1 and some universal constant C > 0 (see Lemma 2.4), if

$$32\pi^3 a C^2 g^2 \left\| \frac{\chi_2}{|k|} \right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}^2 < 1, \qquad (1.18)$$

then the Maxwell-Schrödinger energy functional \mathcal{E}_V admits a minimizer $(u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}_{\rm gs})$ in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$.

Remark 1.4. For $|g| ||\chi_2/|k|||_{L^2+L^{3,\infty}}$ sufficiently small, the existence of a ground state holds without assuming the presence of an ultraviolet cutoff. The case $\chi = 1$ is indeed covered by the previous theorem, since 1/|k| belongs to $L^{3,\infty}$.

Remark 1.5. The smallness condition (1.18) only concerns the critical part χ_2 such that $\chi_2/|k|$ belongs to $L^{3,\infty}$. We do not require any restriction on $\|\chi_1/|k|\|_{L^2}$.

Remark 1.6. The condition $E_{V_1} > E_V$ is verified in many cases of interest:

- For potentials V such that $\mu_V < 0$ (e.g. if V is a negative Coulomb potential), one has $E_V \leq \mu_V < 0 \leq E_{V_1}$.
- For confining potentials (i.e. such that $V(x) \to \infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$), Lemma 2.2 and Proposition 3.6 imply that there always exists a decomposition $V = V_1 + V_2$ such that $E_V < E_{V_1}$.
- Assuming the 'binding' condition $\mu_{V_1} > \mu_V$ and that $|g| \left\| \frac{\chi}{|k|} \right\|_{L^2 + L^{\infty,3}} \leq C_V$ with C_V small enough, Proposition 3.6 implies that $E_{V_1} > E_V$.

Remark 1.7. If one considers a spinless particle instead of an electron, then the previous theorem becomes trivial. Indeed, using the diamagnetic inequality, it is not difficult to verify that the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy of a spinless particle reaches its minimum when $\vec{A} = 0$. On the contrary, Proposition 1.9 below shows that the minimizer of the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy for a spin- $\frac{1}{2}$ electron is not trivial in general.

Remark 1.8. If (u, \vec{A}) is a minimizer of the Maxwell-Schrödinger energy functional \mathcal{E}_V , then, by Kramer's symmetry (1.15), $(\nu u, \vec{A}(-\cdot))$ is another minimizer of \mathcal{E}_V , different from the first one since $\nu u \perp u$. We conjecture that, for g > 0 sufficiently small, there are exactly two minimizers for \mathcal{E}_V , up to the phase symmetry with respect to u.

To prove Theorem 1.3 we apply the usual strategy from the calculus of variations [36, 37], considering a minimizing sequence (u_j, \vec{A}_j) in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$ and proving that it converges, along some subsequence, to a minimizer of \mathcal{E}_V . A difficulty here comes from the fact that the minimization problem is subject to a constraint on the parameter u, but not on \vec{A} . We first establish a suitable coercivity property that allows us to localize possible minimizers to a ball in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$. This implies that (u_j, \vec{A}_j) converges weakly to some $(u_\infty, \vec{A}_\infty)$ in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$. Then we can the relative compactness in L^2 of a ball in H^1 to deduce that (u_j) converges strongly in L^2 to u_∞ . This in turn suffices to prove the existence of a minimizer.

The main difficulty to implement this approach comes from the presence of singular terms in the interaction (i.e. terms involving χ_2 with $\chi_2/|k|$ in $L^{3,\infty}$). In order to handle them, we

use suitable estimates in Lorentz spaces that we detail in the next section. This is one of the main novelties of this paper, which allows us to remove the ultraviolet cutoff, and which we believe is naturally suited to study the minimization problem in the present context.

Our next proposition establishes the asymptotic expansion of the ground state energy E_V up to third order in the coupling constant, assuming that V and χ are radial.

Proposition 1.9 (Asymptotic expansion of the ground state energy at small coupling). Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and 2, and χ satisfies Hypothesis 3. Suppose also that V and χ are radial, and that the decomposition $V = V_1 + V_2$ of Hypothesis 1 can be chosen such that $E_{V_1} > E_V$. There exist $\varepsilon_V > 0$ and $C_V > 0$ such that, if

$$\mathbf{g}_{\chi} := |g| \left\| \frac{\chi}{|k|} \right\|_{L^2 + L^{3,\infty}} \leq \varepsilon_V,$$

then the minimum of the energy satisfies

$$\left| E_V - \mu_V - 8\pi^3 \left(\int (g\hat{\chi} * u_V^2)^2 + \frac{1}{3} \int (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{\nabla} u_V^2)^2 \right) \right| \le C_V \,\mathbf{g}_{\chi}^4.$$
(1.19)

In particular, if $\chi = 1$, then

$$\left| E_V - \mu_V - g^2 (8\pi^3)^3 \left(\int u_V^4 + \frac{1}{3} \int (\vec{\nabla} u_V^2)^2 \right) \right| \le C_V \, \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^4$$

Remark 1.10. The asymptotic expansion at small coupling of the ground state energy of the Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} in the standard model of non-relativistic QED has been computed in [4].

To prove Proposition 1.9, we derive Euler-Lagrange type equations for minimizers $(u_{\rm gs}, \dot{A}_{\rm gs})$, which we subsequently project to the vector space spanned by the electronic ground states and its orthogonal complement. The asymptotic expansion in Proposition 1.9 then follows from estimating these equations.

Our last concern is to prove the convergence of the ground state energies in the ultraviolet limit. More precisely, suppose that the interaction between the electron and the field is cut-off in the ultraviolet, i.e. that the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional is given by

$$\mathcal{E}_{V,\Lambda}(u,\vec{A}) := \left\| \vec{\sigma} \cdot \left(-i\vec{\nabla} - g\hat{\chi}_{\Lambda} * \vec{A} \right) u \right\|_{L^2}^2 + \langle u, Vu \rangle_{L^2} + \frac{1}{32\pi^3} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2, \tag{1.20}$$

with $\chi_{\Lambda} = \chi \mathbb{1}_{|k| \leq \Lambda}$, for some ultraviolet parameter $\Lambda > 0$. Define the ground state energies $E_{V,\Lambda}$ by

$$E_{V,\Lambda} := \inf_{(u,\vec{A}) \in \mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}_{V,\Lambda}(u,\vec{A}).$$
(1.21)

The next proposition then shows that $E_{V,\Lambda}$ converges to E_V as $\Lambda \to \infty$.

Proposition 1.11 (Ultraviolet limit of the ground state energies). Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that χ satisfies Hypothesis 3. Then

$$E_{V,\Lambda} \xrightarrow[\Lambda \to \infty]{} E_V$$

Note that the conditions imposed in Proposition 1.11 are weaker than those ensuring the existence of a ground state in Theorem 1.3.

1.5. Organisation of the paper. In the preliminary Section 2, we state estimates on the electronic Hamiltonian. Most of the proofs can be found in the companion paper [12]. We also establish functional inequalities in Lorentz spaces used to handle the ultraviolet limit in the Maxwell-Schrödinger energy functional. Our main results are proved in Section 3: We first reduce the variational problem for (1.1) to the minimization of the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional (1.2) in Section 3.1. Existence of a minimizer for the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy as stated in Theorem 1.3 is proved in Section 3.2. In Section 3.3, we establish useful properties of the set of minimizers. We compute the expansion of the ground state energy for small coupling constants and prove Proposition 1.9 in Section 3.4. Finally, the convergence of the ground state energies in the ultraviolet limit (Proposition 1.11) is proved in Section 3.5. For the sake of completeness, the self-adjointness of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian and its quadratic form domain are recalled in Appendix A.

2. Preliminaries

In this preliminary section, we gather several technical estimates that will be used in the next section to prove our main results. The first subsection mainly concerns the electronic Hamiltonian H_V . We refer to the article [12] for a proof of some of the stated results. In a second subsection, we give some functional estimates in Lorentz spaces that will be used in a crucial way to control the interactions terms in the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional.

2.1. Estimates on the electronic part. Recall that our assumptions on the external potential V of the electronic Hamiltonian $H_V = -\Delta + V$ have been introduced in Section 1.1. We begin with a few remarks showing that H_V is well-defined and that $\mathcal{Q}(H_V) = \mathcal{Q}(H_{V_+}) = \mathcal{Q}(H_{V_+})$ with V_1 as in Hypothesis 1.

First, V_{-} is form bounded with respect to $\sqrt{-\Delta}$, by Hypothesis 1. This implies by a wellknown argument that V_{-} is also form bounded with respect to $H_{V_{+}}$ with a relative bound less than 1, and hence the KLMN Theorem (see [45, Theorem X.17]) yields that H_{V} identifies with a semi-bounded self-adjoint operator with form domain $\mathcal{Q}(H_{V}) = \mathcal{Q}(H_{V_{+}})$.

Next, Hypothesis 1(ii) implies that V_2 is relatively form bounded with respect to $\sqrt{-\Delta}$ with relative bound 0. Indeed, for R sufficiently large, $V_2 \mathbf{1}_{|x| \geq R}$ belongs to $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ since $V_2(x) \to 0$ as $|x| \to \infty$, while $V_2 \mathbf{1}_{|x| \leq R}$ belongs to $L^{3/2}(B_R)$ with $B_R := \{x \in \mathbb{R}^3 \mid |x| \leq R\}$, since V_2 is in $L^{3/2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Therefore V_2 belongs to $L^{3/2}(\mathbb{R}^3) + L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and hence we can apply [45, Theorem X.19] to deduce that V_2 is infinitesimally form-bounded with respect to $\sqrt{-\Delta}$. In turn, since $V_+ - V_1 = V_2 + V_-$ is form bounded with respect to $\sqrt{-\Delta}$, it is not difficult to verify that $\mathcal{Q}(H_{V_+}) = \mathcal{Q}(H_{V_1})$.

We recall a version of the IMS localization formula (see e.g. [18]), used to split the contributions to the energy for large x and for small x. We state it for a magnetic kinetic energy since this context is relevant in Section 3 to study the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional.

Lemma 2.1 (Magnetic IMS localization formula). Let $\vec{A} \in L^2_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$ and $\eta, \tilde{\eta} : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ be differentiable with bounded first derivatives and such that $\eta^2 + \tilde{\eta}^2 = 1$. Let $u \in H^1_{\vec{A}} = \{\tilde{u} \in L^2 \mid (-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A})\tilde{u} \in L^2\}$. Then

$$\|(-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A})u\|^2 = \|(-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A})\eta u\|^2 + \|(-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A})\tilde{\eta} u\|^2 + \langle u, (|\vec{\nabla}\eta|^2 + |\vec{\nabla}\tilde{\eta}|^2)u\rangle.$$
(2.1)

Proof. Using the commutator $[-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A}, \eta] = (-i\vec{\nabla}\eta)$ three times yields

$$\langle (-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A}) u, (-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A}) \eta^2 u \rangle = \langle (-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A}) \eta u, (-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A}) \eta u \rangle - \langle u, (-i\vec{\nabla}\eta)^2 u \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle u, (-(-i\vec{\nabla}\eta^2)(-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A}) + (-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A}) (-i\vec{\nabla}\eta^2)) u \rangle. \quad (2.2)$$

Summing (2.2) and the same equation with η replaced by $\tilde{\eta}$ leads to

$$\begin{split} \|(-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A})u\|^2 &= \|(-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A})\,\eta\,u\|^2 + \|(-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A})\,\tilde{\eta}\,u\|^2 + \langle u, (|\vec{\nabla}\eta|^2 + |\vec{\nabla}\tilde{\eta}|^2)u\rangle \\ &+ \langle u, \left(-(-i\vec{\nabla}\frac{\eta^2 + \tilde{\eta}^2}{2})(-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A}) + (-i\vec{\nabla} - \vec{A})(-i\vec{\nabla}\frac{\eta^2 + \tilde{\eta}^2}{2})\right)u\rangle \end{split}$$

which implies the result since $\eta^2 + \tilde{\eta}^2$ is constant.

which implies the result since $\eta^2 + \tilde{\eta}^2$ is constant.

The following lemma shows that, for confining potentials V, the gap $\mu_{V_1} - \mu_V$ can be made as large as we want, provided that the potential V_1 is suitably chosen. The proof can be found in the companion paper [12]

Lemma 2.2. Suppose that $V = V_+ - V_-$ is such that

(i) $V_+ \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$, (*ii*) $V_{-} \in L^{3/2}_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}^3)$, (iii) $V(x) \to \infty$ as $|x| \to \infty$.

Then, for all C > 0, there exist a decomposition $V = V_{1,C} + V_{2,C}$ as in Hypothesis 1 such that, moreover,

$$\mu_{V_{1,C}} - \mu_V \ge C.$$

To conclude this section, we give a lemma, proved again in the companion paper [12], which is useful to prove the existence of minimizers for the energy functional studied in Section 3.

Lemma 2.3. Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1. Let $(u_i)_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ be a bounded sequence in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ which converges weakly to u_{∞} in $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$, and strongly in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Then

$$\langle u_{\infty}, (-\Delta + V)u_{\infty} \rangle \leq \liminf_{j \to \infty} \langle u_j, (-\Delta + V)u_j \rangle.$$

2.2. Functional inequalities in Lorentz spaces. In the proof of our main results, we use in a crucial way some functional inequalities in Lorentz spaces that we present in this section. For $1 \leq p < \infty$, the Lorentz spaces $L^{p,\infty} = L^{p,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ are defined as the set of (equivalence classes of) measurable functions $f : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ such that (1.3) holds.

More generally, for $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $1 \leq q \leq \infty$, the Lorentz spaces $L^{p,q} = L^{p,q}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ are defined as the set of (equivalence classes of) measurable functions $f: \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{C}$ such that the quasi-norm

$$||f||_{L^{p,q}} := p^{1/q} ||\lambda(\{|f| > t\})^{1/p} t||_{L^q((0,\infty), dt/t)}$$

is finite.

For $1 \leq p < \infty$ and $1 \leq q_1 \leq q_2 \leq \infty$, the continuous embedding $L^{p,q_1} \subseteq L^{p,q_2}$ holds. Moreover $L^{p,p}$ identifies with the Lebesgue space L^p . We use the following generalizations of Hölder and Young's inequality in Lorentz spaces, see [11, 33, 43, 51] or [23, 1.4.19].

For $1 \le p_1, p_2 < \infty, 1 \le q_1, q_2 \le \infty$, Hölder's inequality states that

$$\|f_1 f_2\|_{L^{p,q}} \lesssim \|f_1\|_{L^{p_1,q_1}} \|f_2\|_{L^{p_2,q_2}}, \qquad \frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2}, \quad \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \frac{1}{q_2}, \tag{2.3}$$

whenever the right hand side is finite.

Young's inequality states that, for $1 < p, p_1, p_2 < \infty, 1 \le q_1, q_2 \le \infty$,

$$\|f_1 * f_2\|_{L^{p,q}} \lesssim \|f_1\|_{L^{p_1,q_1}} \|f_2\|_{L^{p_2,q_2}}, \qquad 1 + \frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{p_1} + \frac{1}{p_2}, \quad \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{q_1} + \frac{1}{q_2}.$$
(2.4)

2.2.1. Functional inequalities in the Maxwell–Schrödinger setting. We present estimates which will play an important role in the next section. We work in the setting of the Maxwell– Schrödinger energy functional introduced in (1.3), with u in $\mathcal{Q}_V \subset L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^2)$ (see (1.7)) and A in $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$.

Lemma 2.4. Under Hypothesis 3 on $\chi = \chi_1 + \chi_2$ with $\chi_1/|k|$ in L^2 and $\chi_2/|k|$ in $L^{3,\infty}$, there exists a universal constant C > 0 such that,

$$\forall (u, \vec{A}) \in H^1 \times \dot{H}^1, \ \|(\hat{\chi} \ast \vec{A})u\|_{L^2} \le C \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1} \left(\left\|\frac{\chi_1}{|k|}\right\|_{L^2} \|u\|_{L^2} + \left\|\frac{\chi_2}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1/2}} \right), \ (2.5)$$

and

$$\forall (u, \vec{A}) \in \mathcal{Q}_{V} \times \dot{H}^{1}, \quad \|(\hat{\chi} \ast \vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} \le C \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2} + L^{3,\infty}} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \|u\|_{L^{2}}^{1/2} \|u\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}}^{1/2}.$$
(2.6)

Proof. In this proof $X \leq Y$ means that there is a universal constant c such that $X \leq cY$. Hölder and Young's inequalities are sufficient to estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\hat{\chi}_{1} * \vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} &\lesssim \|(\chi_{1} \,\overline{\mathcal{F}}\vec{A}) * \overline{\mathcal{F}}u\|_{L^{2}} \leq \|\chi_{1} \,\overline{\mathcal{F}}\vec{A}\|_{L^{1}} \,\|u\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq \|\chi_{1}/|k|\|_{L^{2}} \,\||k| \,\overline{\mathcal{F}}\vec{A}\|_{L^{2}} \,\|u\|_{L^{2}} \leq \|\chi_{1}/|k|\|_{L^{2}} \,\|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \,\|u\|_{L^{2}}. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly,

$$\|(\hat{\chi}_2 * \vec{A})u\|_{L^2} \lesssim \left\| (\frac{\chi_2}{|k|} |k| \overline{\mathcal{F}} \vec{A}) * (\frac{1}{|k|^{1/2}} (\overline{\mathcal{F}} u)^{1/2} |k|^{1/2} (\overline{\mathcal{F}} u)^{1/2}) \right\|_{L^2}$$

which can be estimated using the Hölder and Young's inequalities in Lorentz spaces, see (2.3)–(2.4) (or the Brascamp-Lieb inequality in Lorentz spaces, see [10, 11]): for any φ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^2)$,

$$\begin{split} \left| \iint \varphi(k') \Big(\frac{\chi_2(k'-k)}{|k'-k|} |k'-k| \overline{\mathcal{F}} \vec{A}(k'-k) \Big) \Big(\frac{1}{|k|^{1/2}} |k|^{1/2} \overline{\mathcal{F}} u \Big) \, \mathrm{d}k \, \mathrm{d}k' \right| \\ \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{L^2} \left\| \frac{\chi_2}{|k|} \right\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \||k| \overline{\mathcal{F}} \vec{A}\|_{L^2} \left\| \frac{1}{|k|^{1/2}} \right\|_{L^{6,\infty}} \||k|^{1/2} \overline{\mathcal{F}} u\|_{L^2}. \end{split}$$

By duality, one gets the estimate:

$$\|(\hat{\chi}_2 * \vec{A})u\|_{L^2} \lesssim \left\|\frac{\chi_2}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1/2}}.$$

This proves (2.5). Hölder's inequality then yields (2.6), since

$$\|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1/2}} \lesssim \||\overline{\mathcal{F}}u|^{1/2}|k|^{1/2}|\overline{\mathcal{F}}u|^{1/2}\|_{L^2} \lesssim \||\overline{\mathcal{F}}u|^{1/2}\|_{L^4} \||k|^{1/2}|\overline{\mathcal{F}}u|^{1/2}\|_{L^4} \lesssim \|u\|_{H^1}^{1/2} \|u\|_{L^2}^{1/2}.$$

This ends the proof.

Lemma 2.5. Under Hypothesis 3 on χ , there exists a universal constant C > 0 such that, for all tempered distribution w such that $\mathcal{F}w$ is in $L^{\infty} \cap L^{6,2}$,

$$\|\hat{\chi} * w\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} \le C \left\| \frac{\chi}{|k|} \right\|_{L^2 + L^{3,\infty}} \|\mathcal{F}w\|_{L^{\infty} \cap L^{6,2}}, \qquad (2.7)$$

and for all u_1 in L^2 , u_2 in H^1 , and $0 < \Lambda \leq \infty$,

$$\|\mathbf{1}_{|k| \le \Lambda} \mathcal{F}(u_1 u_2)\|_{L^{\infty} \cap L^{6,2}} \le C \|u_1\|_{L^2} \|u_2\|_{H^1}.$$
(2.8)

Proof. With a decomposition $\chi = \chi_1 + \chi_2$ where $\chi_1/|k|$ in L^2 and $\chi_2/|k|$ in $L^{3,\infty}$, Hölder's inequality gives

$$\|\hat{\chi}_1 * w\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} \lesssim \left\|\frac{\chi_1}{|k|}\right\|_{L^2} \|\mathcal{F}w\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

Likewise, Hölder's inequality in Lorentz spaces, see (2.3), yields

$$\|\hat{\chi}_2 * w\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} \lesssim \left\|\frac{\chi_2}{|k|} \mathcal{F} w\right\|_{L^2} \le \left\|\frac{\chi_2}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|\mathcal{F} w\|_{L^{6,2}}.$$

This proves (2.7).

Now, by the continuity of the Fourier transform from L^1 to L^{∞} and Hölder's inequality,

 $\|\mathbf{1}_{|k|\leq\Lambda}\mathcal{F}(u_1u_2)\|_{L^{\infty}}\leq \|u_1u_2\|_{L^1}\lesssim \|u_1\|_{L^2}\|u_2\|_{L^2}.$

Then Young's inequality in Lorentz spaces (2.4) yields

$$\left\|\mathbf{1}_{|k|\leq\Lambda}\mathcal{F}(u_1u_2)\right\|_{L^{6,2}} = \left\|\mathcal{F}(u_1)*\mathcal{F}(u_2)\right\|_{L^{6,2}} \lesssim \left\|\mathcal{F}(u_1)\right\|_{L^{2,2}} \left\|\mathcal{F}(u_2)\right\|_{L^{3/2,\infty}}.$$

Using the fact that $L^{2,2} = L^2$ and Hölder's inequality in Lorentz spaces (2.3) yields

$$\|\mathcal{F}(u_1)\|_{L^{2,2}} \|\mathcal{F}(u_2)\|_{L^{3/2,\infty}} \lesssim \|u_1\|_{L^2} \||k|^{-1/2} \|_{L^{6,\infty}} \||k|^{1/2} \mathcal{F}(u_2)\|_{L^{2,\infty}}.$$

Since $L^{2,2} = L^2$ is continuously embedded in $L^{2,\infty}$, and since $||u_2||_{\dot{H}^{1/2}} \leq ||u_2||_{H^1}$ this yields (2.8).

Recall that \mathcal{Q}_V^* stands for the topological dual of \mathcal{Q}_V (see (1.7)) and that the space \mathcal{A} has been defined in (1.16).

Lemma 2.6. Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that χ satisfies Hypothesis 3. There exists a universal constant C > 0 such that, for all \vec{A} in \mathcal{A} and u in H^1 ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|(-i\vec{\nabla}u)\cdot(\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}^{*}} &\leq C \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}+L^{3,\infty}} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{1/2} \|u\|_{L^{2}}^{1/2},\\ \|\hat{\chi}*\vec{\sigma}\cdot(\vec{\nabla}\wedge\vec{A})u\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}^{*}} &\leq C \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}+L^{3,\infty}} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{1/2} \|u\|_{L^{2}}^{1/2},\\ \|(\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})^{2}u\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}^{*}} &\leq C \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}+L^{3,\infty}}^{2} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{1/2} \|u\|_{L^{2}}^{1/2}.\end{aligned}$$

13

Proof. By duality, using that $\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{A} = 0$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|(-i\vec{\nabla}u)\cdot(\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}^{*}} &= \sup_{\|v\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}}=1} \left| \int \overline{v(x)} [(-i\vec{\nabla}u(x))\cdot(\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})(x)] \,\mathrm{d}x \right| \\ &= \sup_{\|v\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}}=1} \left| \int \overline{-i\vec{\nabla}v(x)} [u(x)\cdot(\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})(x)] \,\mathrm{d}x \right| \\ &\leq \sup_{\|v\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}}=1} \|\vec{\nabla}v\|_{L^{2}} \|(\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq \sup_{\|v\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}}=1} \|v\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}} \|(\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} \leq \|(\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} \,. \end{aligned}$$

This last quantity is estimated thanks to Lemma 2.4:

$$\|(\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})u\|_{L^2} \lesssim \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^2 + L^{3,\infty}} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1} \|u\|_{H^1}^{1/2} \|u\|_{L^2}^{1/2}.$$

The estimate of $\|\hat{\chi} * \vec{\sigma} \cdot (\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A})u\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V^*}$ is analogous, using that

$$\int \overline{v(x)} \left(\hat{\chi} * \vec{\sigma} \cdot (\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A}) u \right)(x) \mathrm{d}x = - \left\langle (\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{\sigma}) v, (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}) u \right\rangle_{L^2}.$$

Similarly, by duality, Hölder's inequality and Lemma 2.4,

$$\begin{aligned} \|(\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})^{2} u\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}^{*}} &= \sup_{\|v\|_{\mathcal{Q}_{V}}=1} \left| \int \overline{v}(\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})^{2} u \right| \\ &\leq \|(\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}) v\|_{L^{2}} \|(\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}) u\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}+L^{3,\infty}}^{2} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{1/2} \|u\|_{L^{2}}^{1/2}. \end{aligned}$$

This concludes the proof of the lemma.

3. Proofs of the main results

In this section we prove our main results stated in Section 1.4. In Section 3.1, we show that minimizing the Pauli-Fierz energy over coherent states is equivalent to minimizing the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional over its natural definition domain. The existence of a minimizer stated in Theorem 1.3 is proved in Section 3.2, using coercivity and lower semicontinuity arguments. In Section 3.3 we study the set of minimizers of the Maxwell– Schrödinger energy functional for small coupling constants. In particular, the Euler-Lagrange equations leads to useful estimates for the minimizers, which in turn allows us to obtain in Section 3.4 the second-order asymptotic expansions of the ground state energy at small coupling stated in Proposition 1.9. Finally, we prove the convergence of the quasi-classical ground state energy in the ultraviolet limit (Proposition 1.11) in Section 3.5.

3.1. Reduction to the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional. We first justify the derivation of the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional appearing in (1.12). To this end we compute the energy of product state $u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}$ in the standard model of non-relativistic QED. Recall that u is in \mathcal{U} (see (1.8)) and \vec{f} is in $L^2_{\perp}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^3) \cap \mathcal{Z}$ (see (1.11)).

We introduce a direct sum decomposition $\mathcal{Z}=\mathcal{Z}^+\oplus\mathcal{Z}^-$ where

$$\mathcal{Z}^{+} := \left\{ \vec{f} \in \mathcal{Z}, \ \vec{f}(-k) = \overline{\vec{f}(k)} \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{R}^{3} \right\}, \quad \mathcal{Z}^{-} := \left\{ \vec{f} \in \mathcal{Z}, \ \vec{f}(-k) = -\overline{\vec{f}(k)} \quad \forall k \in \mathbb{R}^{3} \right\}.$$

Note that any \vec{f} in \mathcal{Z} decomposes as $\vec{f} = \vec{f}_+ + \vec{f}_-$ with

$$\vec{f}_+(k) := \frac{\vec{f}(k) + \overline{\vec{f}(-k)}}{2} \in \mathcal{Z}^+, \quad \vec{f}_-(k) := \frac{\vec{f}(k) - \overline{\vec{f}(-k)}}{2} \in \mathcal{Z}^-$$

We suppose here that $\chi/\sqrt{|k|}$ and $\chi/|k|$ belong to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ in order for the Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} to be well-defined (see Proposition A.1). These assumptions will however subsequently be relaxed in our study of the Maxwell–Schrödinger engergy functional. In this section we drop the index V for \mathcal{E}_V as the potential remains fixed throughout this section.

Proposition 3.1. Let $\chi : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ be such that $\chi(-k) = \chi(k)$ for all k in \mathbb{R}^3 and both $\chi/\sqrt{|k|}$ and $\chi/|k|$ belong to $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Let u in \mathcal{U} and $\Psi_{\vec{f}}$ in $\mathcal{H}_{\mathbf{f}}$ be a coherent state of parameter \vec{f} in $L^2_{\perp}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^3) \cap \mathcal{Z}$. The energy of the state $u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}$ satisfies

$$\left\langle \left(u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}\right), \, \mathbb{H}\left(u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}\right) \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = 2g^2 \left\| \frac{\chi(k)}{\sqrt{|k|}} \right\|_{L^2}^2 + \left\langle \vec{f}_{-}, |k|\vec{f}_{-}\right\rangle_{L^2} + \mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A}_{\vec{f}}), \tag{3.1}$$

where $\vec{A}_{\vec{f}}$ is given by (1.13) and $\mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A}_{\vec{f}})$ is given by (1.14). Moreover,

$$\inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}, \vec{f} \in L^2_{\perp} \cap \mathcal{Z}} \left\langle (u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}), \mathbb{H}(u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}) \right\rangle = 2g^2 \left\| \frac{\chi(k)}{\sqrt{|k|}} \right\|_{L^2}^2 + \inf_{u \in \mathcal{U}, \vec{f} \in L^2_{\perp} \cap \mathcal{Z}^+} \mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A}_{\vec{f}}).$$
(3.2)

Proof. Using the identities (A.2) recalled in Appendix A, we can compute the Pauli-Fierz energy of the state $u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}$, which gives

$$\begin{split} \left\langle u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}, \, \mathbb{H}\left(u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}\right) \right\rangle &= \left\langle u, H_{V}u \right\rangle_{L^{2}} + 2g^{2} \left\|\vec{m}\right\|_{L^{2}_{k}}^{2} - 4g \Re \mathfrak{e} \left\langle u, -i\vec{\nabla}u \left\langle \vec{f}, \vec{m}(x, .) \right\rangle_{L^{2}_{k}} \right\rangle_{L^{2}_{x}} \\ &+ 4g^{2} \left\langle u, \left(\Re \mathfrak{e} \left\langle \vec{f}, \vec{m}(x, .) \right\rangle_{L^{2}_{k}} \right)^{2} u \right\rangle_{L^{2}_{x}} - g \left\langle u, \vec{\sigma} \cdot \vec{\nabla}_{x} \wedge 2 \Re \mathfrak{e} \left\langle \vec{f}, \vec{m}(x, .) \right\rangle_{L^{2}_{k}} u \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{f}, |k| \, \vec{f} \right\rangle_{L^{2}_{k}}, \end{split}$$

where $\vec{m} = \sum_{\tau} \vec{m}_{\tau}$ and

$$\vec{m}_{\tau}(x,k) := \chi(k) |k|^{-1/2} e^{-ik \cdot x} \vec{\varepsilon_{\tau}}(k)$$

First, we can use the properties of the Fourier transform to obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \vec{f}, \vec{m}(x, .) \right\rangle_{L_k^2} &= \sum_{\tau} \int \overline{\vec{f_\tau}(k)} \chi(k) \, |k|^{-1/2} \, e^{-ikx} \vec{\varepsilon_\tau}(k) \, \mathrm{d}k \\ &= \mathcal{F}\left(\overline{\vec{f}(k)} \, |k|^{-1/2} \, \chi(k)\right)(x) \\ &= \hat{\chi} * \mathcal{F}(\overline{\vec{f}(k)} \, |k|^{-1/2})(x), \end{split}$$

which means that, with the notation $\vec{A}_{\vec{f}}$ introduced in (1.13), and using that $\hat{\chi}$ is real valued:

$$2\Re \mathfrak{e} \left\langle \vec{f}, \vec{m}(x, .) \right\rangle_{L^2_k} = \hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\vec{f}}(x) \,.$$

Integrating by parts then gives

$$\begin{split} & 2\mathfrak{Re}\Big\langle u, -i\vec{\nabla}u\big\langle\vec{f}, \vec{m}(x,.)\big\rangle_{L_{k}^{2}}\Big\rangle_{L_{x}^{2}} \\ &= \Big\langle u, -i\vec{\nabla}u\big\langle\vec{f}, \vec{m}(x,.)\big\rangle_{L_{k}^{2}}\Big\rangle_{L_{x}^{2}} + \Big\langle -i\vec{\nabla}u\big\langle\vec{f}, \vec{m}(x,.)\big\rangle_{L_{k}^{2}}, u\Big\rangle_{L_{x}^{2}} \\ &= \int \overline{-i\vec{\nabla}u(x)}u(x)\big\langle\vec{f}, \vec{m}(x,.)\big\rangle_{L_{k}^{2}}\,\mathrm{d}x + \int \overline{-i\vec{\nabla}u(x)}u(x)\overline{\langle\vec{f}, \vec{m}(x,.)}\big\rangle_{L_{k}^{2}}\,\mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int \overline{-i\vec{\nabla}u(x)}u(x)2\mathfrak{Re}\big\langle\vec{f}, \vec{m}(x,.)\big\rangle_{L_{k}^{2}}\,\mathrm{d}x \\ &= \Big\langle -i\vec{\nabla}u, (\hat{\chi}*\vec{A}_{\vec{f}})u\Big\rangle_{L^{2}}. \end{split}$$

Now, we compute the scalar product

$$\left\langle \vec{f}, |k| \, \vec{f} \right\rangle_{L^2} = \left\langle \vec{f}_+, |k| \, \vec{f}_+ \right\rangle_{L^2} + \left\langle \vec{f}_-, |k| \, \vec{f}_- \right\rangle_{L^2} + 2 \Re \mathfrak{e} \left\langle \vec{f}_+, |k| \, \vec{f}_- \right\rangle_{L^2}.$$

Using a change of variables and the definitions of f_+ and f_- yields

$$\left\langle \vec{f}_{+}, |k| \, \vec{f}_{-} \right\rangle = \int \overline{\vec{f}_{+}(k)} \, |k| \, \vec{f}_{-}(k) \, \mathrm{d}k = \int \overline{\vec{f}_{+}(-k)} \, |-k| \, \vec{f}_{-}(-k) \, \mathrm{d}k = -\int \vec{f}_{+}(k) \, |k| \, \overline{\vec{f}_{-}(k)} \, \mathrm{d}k.$$

This shows that $2\Re(\vec{f}_+, |k| | \vec{f}_-) = 0$. Then, applying the inverse Fourier transform to (1.13) yields

$$\overline{\vec{f}_{+}(k)} = \frac{1}{2} |k|^{1/2} \mathcal{F}^{-1}(\vec{A}_{\vec{f}})$$

Finally, using Parseval's equality yields

$$\left\langle \vec{f}_{+}, |k| \, \vec{f}_{+} \right\rangle_{L^{2}} = \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \left\langle \mathcal{F}^{-1}(\vec{A}_{\vec{f}}), |k|^{2} \, \mathcal{F}^{-1}(\vec{A}_{\vec{f}}) \right\rangle_{L^{2}} = \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \left\langle \vec{A}_{\vec{f}}, -\Delta \vec{A}_{\vec{f}} \right\rangle_{L^{2}} = \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \left\| \vec{A}_{\vec{f}} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2}$$

This allows us to obtain (3.1).

Now, since the term $\langle \vec{f}_{-}, |k| \vec{f}_{-} \rangle$ is non-negative, we can write

$$\inf_{\substack{u \in \mathcal{U}, \vec{f} \in L_{\perp}^{2} \cap \mathcal{Z}}} \left\langle (u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}), \mathbb{H}(u \otimes \Psi_{\vec{f}}) \right\rangle - 2g^{2} \left\| |k|^{-1/2} \chi(k) \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\
= \inf_{\substack{u \in \mathcal{U}, \vec{f}_{+} \in L_{\perp}^{2} \cap \mathcal{Z}^{+} \\ i \in \mathcal{U}_{\perp}, \vec{f}_{+} \in L_{\perp}^{2} \cap \mathcal{Z}^{+}}} \inf_{\vec{f}_{-} \in L_{\perp}^{2} \cap \mathcal{Z}^{-}} \left(\mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A}_{\vec{f}_{+} + \vec{f}_{-}}) + \left\langle \vec{f}_{-}, |k| \vec{f}_{-} \right\rangle_{L^{2}} \right) \\
= \inf_{\substack{u \in \mathcal{U}, \vec{f}_{+} \in L_{\perp}^{2} \cap \mathcal{Z}^{+}}} \mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A}_{\vec{f}_{+}}),$$

which establishes (3.2).

In the sequel we focus on the minimization of the energy functional \mathcal{E} . By (3.2), we can restrict the minimization to $\vec{f} \in \mathcal{Z}^+$.

In order for the coherent state $\Psi_{\vec{f}}$ to be well-defined, we assumed in the previous proof that $\vec{f} \in L^2_{\perp}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^3)$. The further condition $\vec{f} \in \mathcal{Z}^+$ ensures that the term $\langle \vec{f}, |k| \vec{f} \rangle$ is finite. We will see below (see Lemma 3.5) that, in order for $\mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A}_{\vec{f}})$ to be well-defined, it suffices in fact to assume that $u \in \mathcal{U}$ and $\vec{f} \in \mathcal{Z}^+$. (By (1.13), the latter condition is equivalent to $\vec{A}_{\vec{f}} \in \dot{H}^1$, while $\vec{f}_+ \in L^2$ is equivalent to $\vec{A}_{\vec{f}} \in \dot{H}^{1/2}$). We therefore study \mathcal{E} on the energy space $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$ (where \mathcal{A} is defined in (1.16)), the norm on $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$ being defined by

$$\|(u,\vec{A})\|_{\mathcal{U}\times\mathcal{A}}^2 = \|u\|_{H^1}^2 + \langle u, V_+u\rangle_{L^2} + \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2.$$

In the remainder of this section, we establish Proposition 1.2, namely, that for any minimizer $(u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}_{\rm gs})$ in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$ of the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional (1.14), there exists $\vec{f}_{\rm gs}$ in $L^2_{\perp}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^3) \cap \mathcal{Z}$ such that $\vec{A}_{\rm gs} = \vec{A}_{\vec{f}_{\rm gs}}$ as in (1.13).

We begin with a lemma introducing the Euler-Lagrange equation satisfied by \vec{A}_{gs} and the Pauli operator at a minimizer (u_{gs}, \vec{A}_{gs}) , which will often be useful in the sequel.

Lemma 3.2 (Euler-Lagrange equation and Pauli operator associated to a minimizer). Suppose that the potential V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that χ satisfies Hypothesis 3. If $(u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}_{\rm gs})$ is a minimizer of \mathcal{E} over $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$, then

$$\vec{A}_{\rm gs} = 32\pi^3 (-\Delta)^{-1} g\hat{\chi} * \Re \mathfrak{e} \left\langle (-i\vec{\nabla} + \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{\sigma} - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs}) u_{\rm gs}, u_{\rm gs} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2},\tag{3.3}$$

the operator

$$H_{V,\vec{A}_{gs}} := (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{gs})^2 - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{\sigma} \cdot (\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A}_{gs}) + V + \frac{1}{32\pi^3} \|\vec{A}_{gs}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2$$
(3.4)

defines a self-adjoint operator, and u_{gs} is an eigenvector of $H_{V,\vec{A}_{gs}}$ associated to the eigenvalue E_V .

Proof. At a minimizer, the Frechet derivative of $\mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A})$ with respect to \vec{A} ,

$$\begin{split} \partial_{\vec{A}} \mathcal{E}(u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}_{\rm gs}) &= -\frac{\Delta}{16\pi^3} \vec{A}_{\rm gs} - g\hat{\chi} * 2 \Re \mathfrak{e} \langle -i \vec{\nabla} u_{\rm gs}, u_{\rm gs} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2} \\ &+ 2g\hat{\chi} * \left[(g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs}) \left| u_{\rm gs} \right|_{\mathbb{C}^2}^2 \right] - 2g\hat{\chi} * \Re \mathfrak{e} \langle \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{\sigma} u, u \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2} \,, \end{split}$$

vanishes, which yields (3.3).

Note that under our assumptions, V_{-} is infinitesimally form bounded with respect to the operator $(\vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs}))^2$ (see (3.8) below) from which, using the KLMN Theorem, it is not difficult to deduce that $H_{V,\vec{A}_{\rm gs}}$ identifies with a self-adjoint operator. The minimizing property of $(u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}_{\rm gs})$ means that

$$\langle u_{\rm gs}, (H_{V,\vec{A}_{\rm gs}} - E_V) u_{\rm gs} \rangle = 0.$$
 (3.5)

As $H_{V,\vec{A}_{gs}} \ge E_V$, (3.5) implies that $(H_{V,\vec{A}_{gs}} - E_V)^{1/2} u_{gs} = 0$ and thus

$$(H_{V,\vec{A}_{gs}} - E_V)u_{gs} = 0, \qquad (3.6)$$

which ends the proof of the lemma.

Two important ingredients in the proof of Proposition 1.2 are the exponential decay of the electronic part u_{gs} and a virial argument. We begin with proving these two properties in Lemmata 3.3 and 3.4, respectively.

Lemma 3.3 (Exponential decay of the ground state). Under the assumptions of Proposition 1.2, there exists $\gamma > 0$ such that

$$\left\| e^{\gamma|x|} u_{\rm gs} \right\|_{L^2} < \infty. \tag{3.7}$$

Proof. Recall from Lemma 3.2 that $u_{\rm gs}$ is a ground state of the Pauli operator (3.4). In particular, it is then known that $u_{\rm gs}$ decays exponentially in the sense that (3.7) holds for some $\gamma > 0$ (see e.g. [24, Theorem 1]).

Lemma 3.4 (Virial argument). Under the assumptions of Proposition 1.2,

$$\langle u_{\rm gs}, \left(-i\vec{\nabla} - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs} \right) u_{\rm gs} \rangle = 0.$$

Proof. We use the Pauli operator defined in (3.4). A direct computation shows that, in the sense of quadratic forms on $\mathcal{D}(H_{V,\bar{A}_{rs}}) \cap \mathcal{D}(x)$, we have

$$\left[H_{V,\vec{A}_{\rm gs}},x\right] = -2i\left(-i\vec{\nabla} - g\hat{\chi}*\vec{A}_{\rm gs}\right).$$

Since $H_{V,\vec{A}_{gs}}u_{gs} = E_V u_{gs}$ and u_{gs} belongs to $\mathcal{D}(x)$ by Lemma 3.3, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \left\langle u_{\rm gs}, \left(-i\vec{\nabla} - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs} \right) u_{\rm gs} \right\rangle \\ &= \frac{i}{2} \left\langle \left(H_{V,\vec{A}_{\rm gs}} - E_V \right) u_{\rm gs}, x u_{\rm gs} \right\rangle - \frac{i}{2} \left\langle x u_{\rm gs}, \left(H_{V,\vec{A}_{\rm gs}} - E_V \right) u_{\rm gs} \right\rangle = 0. \end{split}$$

This proves the lemma.

Now we are ready to prove Proposition 1.2.

Proof of Proposition 1.2. Recall that \vec{f}_{gs} and $\vec{A}_{\vec{f}_{gs}}$ are related as in (1.13). Moreover, \vec{A}_{gs} satisfies the relation (3.3), which implies that

$$\|\vec{f}_{\rm gs}\|_{L^2} \lesssim \left\|\vec{A}_{\vec{f}_{\rm gs}}\right\|_{\dot{H}^{1/2}} \lesssim |g| \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|^{\frac{3}{2}}} \vec{F}_{\rm gs}\right\|_{L^2}$$

where, to shorten notations, we have set $\vec{F}_{\rm gs} := \vec{F}_{{\rm gs},1} + \vec{F}_{{\rm gs},2}$, with

$$\vec{F}_{\mathrm{gs},1} := \bar{\mathcal{F}} \big(\langle -i \vec{\nabla} u_{\mathrm{gs}} - g(\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\vec{f}_{\mathrm{gs}}}) u_{\mathrm{gs}}, u_{\mathrm{gs}} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2} \big), \quad \vec{F}_{\mathrm{gs},2} := \bar{\mathcal{F}} \big(\langle \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{\sigma} u_{\mathrm{gs}}, u_{\mathrm{gs}} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2} \big).$$

We can estimate

$$\|\vec{f}_{\rm gs}\|_{L^2} \lesssim \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^2 + L^{3,\infty}} \left\|\frac{1}{|k|^{\frac{1}{2}}}\vec{F}_{\rm gs}\right\|_{L^{\infty} \cap L^{6,2}}$$

Using the cutoff functions η , $\tilde{\eta}$, we separate the contributions from k in a neighborhood of the origin and k in a neighborhood of ∞ , obtaining, since $\tilde{\eta}^2 |k|^{-1/2} \leq 1$,

$$\|\vec{f}_{gs}\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}+L^{3,\infty}} \left(\left\|\frac{1}{|k|^{\frac{1}{2}}}\eta^{2}\vec{F}_{gs}\right\|_{L^{\infty}\cap L^{6,2}} + \left\|\vec{F}_{gs}\right\|_{L^{\infty}\cap L^{6,2}}\right).$$

Clearly, $\|\vec{F}_{gs}\|_{L^{\infty}} < \infty$ since $F_{gs,1}$, $F_{gs,2}$ are the Fourier transforms of products of L^2 -functions. Moreover, $\|\vec{F}_{gs}\|_{L^{6,2}} < \infty$ by Lemma 2.5. Thanks to the cutoff function η , we also have

$$\left\|\frac{1}{|k|^{\frac{1}{2}}}\eta^{2}\vec{F}_{\rm gs}\right\|_{L^{6,2}} \lesssim \left\|\frac{1}{|k|^{\frac{1}{2}}}\eta^{2}\vec{F}_{\rm gs}\right\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

Hence it remains to show that the right-hand-side of the previous equation is finite.

To this end, we estimate the contributions from $F_{gs,1}$ and $F_{gs,2}$ separately. We begin with $F_{gs,1}$. We observe that, by Lemma 3.4,

$$\vec{F}_{\rm gs,1}(0) = \left\langle u_{\rm gs}, \left(-i\vec{\nabla} - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs} \right) u_{\rm gs} \right\rangle_{L^2} = 0.$$

Moreover, using Lemma 3.3, Lemma 2.4 and the fact that u_{gs} belongs to \dot{H}^1 , we have, for all multi-index $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^3$,

$$\begin{split} \left\| \partial_k^{\alpha} \vec{F}_{\mathrm{gs},1} \right\|_{L^{\infty}} &\lesssim \left\| \langle -i \vec{\nabla} u_{\mathrm{gs}} - (g \hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\vec{f}_{\mathrm{gs}}}) u_{\mathrm{gs}}, x^{\alpha} u_{\mathrm{gs}} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2} \right\|_{L^1} \\ &\lesssim \left\| -i \vec{\nabla} u_{\mathrm{gs}} - (g \hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\vec{f}_{\mathrm{gs}}}) u_{\mathrm{gs}} \right\|_{L^2} \left\| x^{\alpha} u_{\mathrm{gs}} \right\|_{L^2} < \infty. \end{split}$$

Hence $\vec{F}_{gs,1}$ belongs to the Sobolev space $W^{\infty,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3)$. Applying the mean-value theorem then yields

$$\left\|\frac{1}{|k|^{\frac{1}{2}}}\eta^2\vec{F}_{\mathrm{gs},1}\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \sup_{|\alpha|=1} \left\||k|^{\frac{1}{2}}\eta^2\partial_x^{\alpha}\vec{F}_{\mathrm{gs},1}\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \sup_{|\alpha|=1} \left\|\partial_x^{\alpha}\vec{F}_{\mathrm{gs},1}\right\|_{L^{\infty}} < \infty.$$

Now we consider $F_{gs,2}$. Since

$$\vec{F}_{\mathrm{gs},2}(k) = k \wedge \bar{\mathcal{F}} \left(\langle \vec{\sigma} u_{\mathrm{gs}}, u_{\mathrm{gs}} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2} \right)(k),$$

we can estimate

$$\left\|\frac{1}{|k|^{\frac{1}{2}}}\eta^{2}\vec{F}_{\mathrm{gs},2}\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq \left\||k|^{\frac{1}{2}}\eta^{2}\bar{\mathcal{F}}\left(\langle\vec{\sigma}u_{\mathrm{gs}},u_{\mathrm{gs}}\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\right)\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \left\|\bar{\mathcal{F}}\left(\langle\vec{\sigma}u_{\mathrm{gs}},u_{\mathrm{gs}}\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\right)\right\|_{L^{\infty}} < \infty.$$

This concludes the proof of the proposition.

3.2. Coercivity, energy gap and existence of a minimizer. In this section we prove Theorem 1.3, namely the existence of a global minimizer for the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional. We use coercivity and lower semicontinuity arguments.

Before we prove Theorem 1.3, we establish a coercivity result which will allow us to show that any minimizing sequence is bounded in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$ (recall that \mathcal{U} has been defined in (1.8) and \mathcal{A} in (1.16)).

Lemma 3.5 (Coercivity). Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and $\chi = \chi_1 + \chi_2$ satisfies Hypothesis 3, with $\chi_1/|k|$ in L^2 and $\chi_2/|k|$ in $L^{3,\infty}$. If

$$32\pi^3 a C^2 g^2 \left\| \frac{\chi_2}{|k|} \right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}^2 < 1 \,,$$

with the constant $a \ge 0$ from Hypothesis 1 and the universal constant C > 0 from Lemma 2.4, then for all (u, \vec{A}) in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$ such that $||(u, \vec{A})||_{\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}} \geq 16(2+a)^2$ we have

$$\mathcal{E}_V(u, \vec{A}) \ge C_1 ||(u, \vec{A})||_{\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}} - C_2$$

with

- $C_1 =: \varepsilon / \max\{4, 32g^2C^2 \|\chi/|k|\|_{L^2+L^{3,\infty}}^2\},$ $C_2 =: b + a^2 (1 + \frac{C^2g^2}{\varepsilon} \|\chi_1/|k|\|_{L^2}^2),$ $2\varepsilon := (32\pi^3)^{-1} C^2ag^2 \|\chi_2/|k|\|_{L^{3,\infty}}^2.$

Proof. Thanks to Lemma 2.4, with the constant a from Hypothesis 1, we can write

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1/2}}^{2} &\leq \|\vec{\nabla}u\|_{L^{2}} = \|\vec{\sigma}\cdot\vec{\nabla}u\|_{L^{2}} \leq \|\vec{\sigma}\cdot(-i\vec{\nabla}-g\,\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} + g\|\vec{\sigma}\cdot(\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})\,u\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\leq \|\vec{\sigma}\cdot(-i\vec{\nabla}-g\,\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} + Cg\|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}\left(\left\|\frac{\chi_{1}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}} + \left\|\frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1/2}}\right) \\ &\leq \|\vec{\sigma}\cdot(-i\vec{\nabla}-g\,\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} + \frac{aC^{2}g^{2}}{2\varepsilon}\left\|\frac{\chi_{1}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{2a} + \frac{C^{2}g^{2}}{2}\left\|\frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}^{2}\right)\|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}\|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1/2}}^{2}.\end{aligned}$$

Hence,

$$\|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1/2}}^{2} \leq 2\|\vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\,\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} + \frac{aC^{2}g^{2}}{\varepsilon} \left\|\frac{\chi_{1}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{a} + C^{2}g^{2} \left\|\frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}^{2}\right) \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + C^{2}g^{2} \left\|\frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}^{2} + C^{2}g^{2} \left\|\frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}^{2} + C^{2}g^{2} \left\|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + C^{2}g^{2} \left\|\frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}^{2} + C^{2}g^{2} \left\|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1,\infty}}^{2} + C^{2}g^{2} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1,\infty}}^{2} + C^{2}g^{2} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1,\infty}}^{2} + C^{2}g^{2} \left\|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1,\infty}}^{2} + C^{2}g^{2} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1,\infty}}^{2} + C^{2}g^{2} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1,\infty}}^{$$

It follows from Hypothesis 1 that

$$\langle u, V_{-}u \rangle \leq 2a \|\vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\,\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} + \left(\frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} - \varepsilon\right) \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{C^{2}a^{2}g^{2}}{\varepsilon} \left\|\frac{\chi_{1}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + b \quad (3.8)$$

and hence,

$$\mathcal{E}_{V}(u,\vec{A}) \geq \langle u, V_{+}u \rangle + \left(\|\vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\,\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} - a \right)^{2} + \varepsilon \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} - a^{2} \left(1 + \frac{C^{2}g^{2}}{\varepsilon} \left\| \frac{\chi_{1}}{|k|} \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right) - b \geq \varepsilon \left(\langle u, V_{+}u \rangle + \left(\|\vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\,\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})u\|_{L^{2}} - a \right)^{2} + \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \right) - C_{2}.$$

Let us suppose that $R = ||(u, \vec{A})||_{\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}} \ge 4$. We consider three cases:

- (1) If $\|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1} \ge R/4$, then $\mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A}) \ge \varepsilon R^2/16 C_2 \ge \varepsilon R/4 C_2$. (2) If $\langle u, V_+ u \rangle \ge R^2/16$, then $\mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A}) \ge \varepsilon R^2/16 C_2 \ge \varepsilon R/4 C_2$. (3) Otherwise $\|u\|_{H^1} \ge R/2$ and

$$\|\vec{\nabla}u\|_{L^2}^2 = \|u\|_{H^1}^2 - 1 \ge R^2/4 - 1 \ge (R/2 - 1)^2.$$

We distinguish two subcases:

(a) If
$$(\|\vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\,\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})u\|_{L^2} - a)^2 \ge R/4$$
, then $\mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A}) \ge \varepsilon R/4 - C_2$,
(b) If $(\|\vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\,\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})u\|_{L^2} - a)^2 < R/4$, then

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{R}{2} - 1 - a - \frac{R^{1/2}}{2} &\leq \|\vec{\nabla}u\|_{L^2} - \|\vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\,\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})u\| \\ &\leq g\|(\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})u\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq 4gC \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^2 + L^{3,\infty}} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1} \frac{R^{1/2}}{2}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore, for $R \ge 16(2+a)^2$,

$$\frac{R^{1/2}}{4\sqrt{2}gC\left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^2+L^{3,\infty}}} \le \frac{R^{1/2}-(2+a)}{4gC\left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^2+L^{3,\infty}}} \le \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1}$$

and hence

$$\mathcal{E}_{V}(u,\vec{A}) \geq \varepsilon \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} - C_{2} \geq \frac{\varepsilon}{32g^{2}C^{2} \|\frac{\chi}{|k|} \|_{L^{2} + L^{3,\infty}}^{2}} R - C_{2}.$$

This yields the result.

We are now ready to prove Theorem 1.3.

Proof of Theorem 1.3. Let $(u_j, \vec{A_j})_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a minimizing sequence for \mathcal{E} in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$. In particular, $(\mathcal{E}(u_j, \vec{A_j}))_j$ is bounded and hence, by Lemma 3.5, $(u_j, \vec{A_j})_j$ is bounded in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$. Hence the sequence $(u_j, \vec{A_j})_j$ converges weakly to some limit $(u_{\infty}, \vec{A_{\infty}})$ in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$ w.r.t. the topology of $\mathcal{Q}_V \times \dot{H}^1$.

We first show that

$$\|u_j - u_\infty\|_{L^2} \xrightarrow[j \to \infty]{} 0.$$
(3.9)

Let $\varepsilon > 0$. By Hypothesis 1 there exists R > 0 such that $|V_2(x)| \le \varepsilon(E_{V_1} - E_V)$ for $|x| \ge R$. Recall that the cutoff functions η_R , $\tilde{\eta}_R$ have been defined in (1.5). We have

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_j - u_\infty\|_{L^2}^2 &= \|\eta_R(u_j - u_\infty)\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\tilde{\eta}_R(u_j - u_\infty)\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &\leq \|\eta_R(u_j - u_\infty)\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\|\tilde{\eta}_R u_j\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\|\tilde{\eta}_R u_\infty\|_{L^2}^2 . \quad (3.10) \end{aligned}$$

For u in \mathcal{U} , the magnetic IMS localization formula (2.1) yields

$$\mathcal{E}_{V}(u,\vec{A}) = \langle \eta_{R} u, ((-i\vec{\nabla} - \hat{\chi} * \vec{A})^{2} + V - \vec{\sigma} \cdot (\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A})) \eta_{R} u \rangle
+ \langle \tilde{\eta}_{R} u, ((-i\vec{\nabla} - \hat{\chi} * \vec{A})^{2} + V_{1} - \vec{\sigma} \cdot (\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A})) \tilde{\eta}_{R} u \rangle
+ \langle u, (\tilde{\eta}_{R}^{2} V_{2} + |\vec{\nabla}\eta_{R}|^{2} + |\vec{\nabla}\tilde{\eta}_{R}|^{2})u \rangle + \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2}
= \mathcal{E}_{V}(\frac{\eta_{R} u}{\|\eta_{R} u\|_{L^{2}}}, \vec{A}) \|\chi_{R} u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \mathcal{E}_{V_{1}}(\frac{\tilde{\eta}_{R} u}{\|\tilde{\eta}_{R} u\|_{L^{2}}}, \vec{A}) \|\tilde{\eta}_{R} u\|_{L^{2}}^{2}
+ \langle u, (\tilde{\eta}_{R}^{2} V_{2} + |\vec{\nabla}\eta_{R}|^{2} + |\vec{\nabla}\tilde{\eta}_{R}|^{2})u \rangle
\geq E_{V} \|\eta_{R} u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + E_{V_{1}} \|\tilde{\eta}_{R} u\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \varepsilon(E_{V_{1}} - E_{V}).$$
(3.11)

As (u_j, \vec{A}_j) is a minimizing sequence, (3.11) yields, for j large enough,

$$\|\tilde{\eta}_R u_j\|_{L^2}^2 \le \frac{\mathcal{E}_V(u_j, \vec{A}_j) - E_V}{E_{V_1} - E_V} + \varepsilon \le 2\varepsilon.$$
(3.12)

By the lower semi-continuity of the L^2 norm,

$$\|\tilde{\eta}_{R} u_{\infty}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq \liminf_{j \to \infty} \|\tilde{\eta}_{R} u_{j}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq 2\varepsilon.$$
(3.13)

The sequence $(u_j)_j$ converges towards u_∞ weakly in \mathcal{Q}_V and thus the sequence $(\eta_R u_j)$ converges weakly in H^1 towards $\eta_R u_\infty$. Using the compactness of the set $\overline{B(0, 2R)}$ and the Rellich-Kondrachov Theorem, we deduce that $(\eta_R u_j)$ converges strongly in L^2 to $\eta_R u_\infty$. This together with (3.10), (3.12) and (3.13) prove (3.9).

To show that $\liminf_{j\to\infty} \mathcal{E}(u_j, \vec{A}_j) \ge \mathcal{E}(u_\infty, \vec{A}_\infty)$, we split $\mathcal{E}(u, \vec{A})$ into five parts:

$$\mathcal{E}_{V}(u,\vec{A}) = \underbrace{\langle u, H_{V}u \rangle}_{\mathcal{E}_{1}(u)} + \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \underbrace{\|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2}}_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} - 2g \mathfrak{Re} \underbrace{\langle -i\vec{\nabla}u, (\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})u \rangle}_{\mathcal{E}_{4}(u,\vec{A})} + \underbrace{\langle u, (\hat{\chi}*\vec{A})^{2}u \rangle}_{\mathcal{E}_{5}(u,\vec{A})} - g \underbrace{\langle u, \vec{\sigma} \cdot (\hat{\chi}*\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A})u \rangle}_{\mathcal{E}_{5}(u,\vec{A})}.$$

By Lemma 2.3, we have

$$\liminf_{j \to \infty} \mathcal{E}_1(u_j) \ge \mathcal{E}_1(u_\infty) \,. \tag{3.14}$$

By the lower semi-continuity of $\|\cdot\|_{\dot{H}^1}$,

$$\liminf_{j \to \infty} \mathcal{E}_2(\vec{A}_j) \ge \mathcal{E}_2(\vec{A}_\infty) \,. \tag{3.15}$$

Now using $\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{A}_j = 0$, the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, the boundedness of $(||(u_j, \vec{A}_j)||_{\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}})_j$ and Lemma 2.4, we obtain

$$|\mathcal{E}_3(u_j, \vec{A}_j) - \langle -i\vec{\nabla}u_j, (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_j) u_\infty \rangle + \langle (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_j) u_j, -i\vec{\nabla}u_\infty \rangle - \mathcal{E}_3(u_\infty, \vec{A}_j)| \lesssim \|u_j - u_\infty\|_{L^2}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.16)

We claim that the weak convergence of A_j towards A_{∞} then yields

$$\mathcal{E}_3(u_\infty, \vec{A}_j) \xrightarrow[j \to \infty]{} \mathcal{E}_3(u_\infty, \vec{A}_\infty).$$
 (3.17)

The limit (3.17) can be proven as follows. Let $\varphi = \overline{-i\vec{\nabla}u_{\infty}}$. Then

$$\mathcal{E}_3(u_\infty, \vec{A}_j) = \int \left(\hat{\chi} * (u_\infty \varphi)\right) \, \vec{A}_j \tag{3.18}$$

and it thus suffices to verify that $\hat{\chi} * (u_{\infty}\varphi)$ belongs to \dot{H}^{-1} . This is a consequence of Lemma 2.5:

$$\left\|\hat{\chi}*(u_{\infty}\varphi)\right\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} \lesssim \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}+L^{3,\infty}} \|u_{\infty}\|_{H^{1}} \|\varphi\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \left\|\frac{\chi}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}+L^{3,\infty}} \|u_{\infty}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} < \infty.$$
(3.19)

The bound (3.16), and the limit (3.17) yield

$$\mathcal{E}_3(u_j, \vec{A}_j) \xrightarrow[j \to \infty]{} \mathcal{E}_3(u_\infty, \vec{A}_\infty).$$
 (3.20)

Similarly as in (3.16), we have

$$|\mathcal{E}_{4}(u_{j},\vec{A}_{j}) - \left\langle u_{\infty},\vec{A}_{j}^{2}u_{j}\right\rangle_{L^{2}} + \left\langle u_{\infty},\vec{A}_{j}^{2}u_{j}\right\rangle_{L^{2}} - \mathcal{E}_{4}(u_{\infty},\vec{A}_{j})| \lesssim \|u_{j} - u_{\infty}\|_{L^{2}}^{\frac{1}{2}}.$$
 (3.21)

Let us now prove that

$$\liminf_{j \to \infty} \mathcal{E}_4(u_\infty, \vec{A}_j) \ge \mathcal{E}_4(u_\infty, \vec{A}_\infty) \,. \tag{3.22}$$

Using the same arguments as those used to prove the lower semicontinuity of norms, we can write

$$\mathcal{E}_4(u_{\infty}, \vec{A}_j - \vec{A}_{\infty}) = \mathcal{E}_4(u_{\infty}, \vec{A}_j) + \mathcal{E}_4(u_{\infty}, \vec{A}_{\infty}) - 2\mathfrak{Re}\left\langle (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\infty})u_{\infty}, (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_j)u_{\infty} \right\rangle \ge 0 \quad (3.23)$$

and arguing as in (3.18), with $\varphi = \overline{(\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\infty})u_{\infty}}$ (which belongs to L^2 by Lemma 2.4), we deduce that

$$\left\langle (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\infty}) u_{\infty}, (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{j}) u_{\infty} \right\rangle = \int (\hat{\chi} * (u_{\infty} \varphi)) \vec{A}_{j} \xrightarrow[j \to \infty]{} \mathcal{E}_{4}(u_{\infty}, \vec{A}_{\infty}).$$
(3.24)

Now (3.23)-(3.24) imply (3.22). A convenient expression of the last term,

$$\mathcal{E}_{5}(u,\vec{A}) = \left\langle u, \vec{\sigma} \cdot (\hat{\chi} * \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A}) u \right\rangle = -2\Re \mathfrak{e} \left\langle \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{\sigma} u, (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}) u \right\rangle,$$

shows that it can be handled as \mathcal{E}_3 and

$$\mathcal{E}_5(u_j, \vec{A}_j) \xrightarrow[j \to \infty]{} \mathcal{E}_5(u_\infty, \vec{A}_\infty).$$

Finally, (3.14), (3.15), (3.20), (3.21), (3.22) and (3.20) imply that

$$\liminf_{j \to \infty} \mathcal{E}(u_j, \vec{A}_j) \ge \mathcal{E}(u_\infty, \vec{A}_\infty)$$

and hence the infimum is indeed a minimum, since $(u_{\infty}, \vec{A}_{\infty})$ is a minimizer.

To conclude this subsection, we focus on the condition $E_{V_1} > E_V$ which was a crucial assumption in our proof of the existence of a minimizer in Theorem 1.3. As mentioned in Remark 1.6, the next proposition shows that this condition is satisfied provided that $|g| \|\chi_2/|k|\|_{L^{3,\infty}}$ is not too large and that either V is confining (recall from Lemma 2.2 that in this case μ_{V_1} can be chosen arbitrarily large) or $\mu_{V_1} > \mu_V$ and $|g| \|\chi/|k|\|_{L^2+L^{3,\infty}}$ is small enough.

Proposition 3.6 (Existence of a gap). Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that the cutoff function $\chi = \chi_1 + \chi_2$ satisfies Hypothesis 3 with $\chi_1/|k|$ in L^2 and $\chi_2/|k|$ in $L^{3,\infty}$. If $\mu_V \ge 0$, then there exists a positive constant C_V such that, for all $0 < \beta < 1 - C_V g \|\chi_2/|k|\|_{L^{3,\infty}}$,

$$E_{V_1} - E_V \ge \min\left(1, \left(1 - \beta - C_V g \left\|\frac{\chi_2}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\right) \mu_{V_1} - \mu_V - \frac{C_V^2 g^2}{4\beta} \left\|\frac{\chi_1}{|k|}\right\|_{L^2}^2 - C_V g \left\|\frac{\chi_2}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\right).$$

Proof. Restricting the infimum of \mathcal{E}_V to $\mathcal{U} \times \{\vec{0}\}$ yields an upper bound for E_V :

$$E_V = \inf_{(u,\vec{A})\in\mathcal{U}\times\mathcal{A}} \mathcal{E}_V(u,\vec{A}) \le \inf_{u\in\mathcal{U}} \mathcal{E}_V(u,\vec{0}) = \mu_V.$$
(3.25)

To control E_{V_1} from below, recall that

$$\mathcal{E}_{V_1}(u,\vec{A}) = \|\vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}) u\|_{L^2}^2 + \langle u, V_1 u \rangle + \frac{1}{32\pi^3} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2.$$

If $\|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2/(32\pi^3) \ge \mu_V + 1$, then

$$\mathcal{E}_{V_1}(u, \vec{A}) \ge \mu_V + 1.$$

Suppose now that $\|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2/(32\pi^3) \leq \mu_V + 1$. Then, with C > 0 the universal constant from Lemma 2.4, and $C_V = 2C\sqrt{\mu_V + 1}$,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}_{V_{1}}(u,\vec{A}) &\geq \langle u, (-\Delta_{x}+V_{1})u \rangle - 2g \Big| \Big\langle \vec{\sigma} \cdot \vec{\nabla}u \,, \vec{\sigma} \cdot (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A})u \Big\rangle \Big| \\ &\geq \langle u, (-\Delta_{x}+V_{1})u \rangle - 2g C \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \|\vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \left(\left\| \frac{\chi_{1}}{|k|} \right\|_{L^{2}} + \left\| \frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|} \right\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1/2}} \right) \\ &\geq \langle u, (-\Delta_{x}+V_{1})u \rangle - g C_{V} \left(\left\| \frac{\chi_{1}}{|k|} \right\|_{L^{2}} \|u\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} + \left\| \frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|} \right\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \right) . \end{aligned}$$

Now, thanks to the conditions on β ,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{E}_{V_{1}}(u,\vec{A}) &\geq \left(1 - \beta - gC_{V} \left\|\frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\right) \langle u, (-\Delta_{x} + V_{1})u \rangle - \frac{C_{V}^{2}g^{2}}{4\beta} \left\|\frac{\chi_{1}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - gC_{V} \left\|\frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}} \\ &\geq \left(1 - \beta - gC_{V} \left\|\frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\right) \mu_{V_{1}} - \frac{C_{V}^{2}g^{2}}{4\beta} \left\|\frac{\chi_{1}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - gC_{V} \left\|\frac{\chi_{2}}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore

$$E_{V_1} \ge \min\left(\mu_V + 1, \left(1 - \beta - C_V g \left\|\frac{\chi_2}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\right) \mu_{V_1} - \frac{C_V^2 g^2}{4\beta} \left\|\frac{\chi_1}{|k|}\right\|_{L^2}^2 - C_V g \left\|\frac{\chi_2}{|k|}\right\|_{L^{3,\infty}}\right),$$

which together with (3.25) yields the result.

3.3. Properties of the set of minimizers. In this section we prove some estimates on minimizers $(u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}_{\rm gs})$ of the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional, which in turn implies that $\vec{A}_{\rm gs}$ is fully determined by $u_{\rm gs}$ for small g.

We use the following notations. The resolvent of the operator $H_V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2}$ is denoted by $R_{\lambda} := (H_V - \lambda)^{-1} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2}$ (a priori defined as an unbounded operator on the set $\operatorname{Ran}(\mathbf{1}_{\{\lambda\}}(H_V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2}))^{\perp})$. Recall that Π_V , Π_V^{\perp} are the projections in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{C}^2)$ defined by $\Pi_V := |u_V\rangle \langle u_V| \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2}$, $\Pi_V^{\perp} = \mathbf{I}_{L^2} - \Pi_V$. Moreover, for all u in \mathcal{Q}_V , we set $\varphi = \Pi_V^{\perp} u$.

In the next lemma, under hypotheses which implies the existence of a ground state u_V for H_V , we obtain an equation satisfied by φ at a minimizer. Moreover, using the Euler-Lagrange equation for \vec{A}_{gs} , we obtain a control over u_{gs} and \vec{A}_{gs} .

Lemma 3.7. Suppose that V satisfies Hypotheses 1 and 2 and that χ satisfies Hypothesis 3. Let (u_{gs}, \vec{A}_{gs}) in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$ be a global minimizer of \mathcal{E} . Then

$$\varphi_{\rm gs} = R_{E_V} \Pi_V^{\perp} \Big[2(-i\vec{\nabla}u_{\rm gs}) \cdot (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs}) - g\hat{\chi} * \vec{\sigma} \cdot (\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A}_{\rm gs}) u_{\rm gs} - (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs})^2 u_{\rm gs} - \frac{1}{32\pi^3} \|\vec{A}_{\rm gs}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 u_{\rm gs} \Big] . \quad (3.26)$$

Moreover, there exist $\varepsilon_V > 0$ and $C_V > 0$ such that, if

$$\mathbf{g}_{\chi} := |g| \left\| \frac{\chi}{|k|} \right\|_{L^2 + L^{3,\infty}} \le \varepsilon_V, \tag{3.27}$$

then the following estimates hold

$$\|\varphi_{\rm gs}\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V} \le C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^2, \tag{3.28}$$

$$\left\| \vec{A}_{\rm gs} \right\|_{\dot{H}^1} \le C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi} \,, \tag{3.29}$$

$$\|\vec{A}_{\rm gs} - \vec{A}_{\rm gs}^{[1]}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} = \|\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A}_{\rm gs} - \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A}_{\rm gs}^{[1]}\|_{L^{2}} \le C_{V} \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^{3}, \qquad (3.30)$$

with

$$\vec{A}_{\rm gs}^{[1]} := 16\pi^3 (-\Delta)^{-1} g \hat{\chi} * \vec{\nabla} \wedge u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{\rm gs} \,, \tag{3.31}$$

and where the vector $\vec{\omega}_{gs}$ in \mathbb{C}^3 is defined by the relation

$$u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{\rm gs} = \langle \Pi_V u_{\rm gs}, \vec{\sigma} \, \Pi_V u_{\rm gs} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2} \,. \tag{3.32}$$

Remark 3.8. Note that $||\vec{\omega}_{gs}|^2 - 1| \leq C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^4$ by (3.28).

Proof of Lemma 3.7. To prove (3.26), it suffices to observe that $E_V \leq \mu_V = \inf \sigma(H_V)$ (see (3.25)), and hence that $R_{E_V} \Pi_V^{\perp}$ is well-defined and identifies with an element of $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V^*, \mathcal{Q}_V)$. Applying $R_{E_V} \Pi_V^{\perp}$ to (3.6) then yields (3.26).

Now we prove (3.29). First observe that, by Lemma 3.5, the assumption (3.27) and the fact that $E_V \leq \mu_V$, we have, for ε_V sufficiently small,

$$\left\| (u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}_{\rm gs}) \right\|_{\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}} \le C_V,$$

for some constant $C_V > 0$, uniformly in g and χ such that $\mathbf{g}_{\chi} \leq \varepsilon_V$. Using (3.3) and Lemmata 2.4–2.5, we then estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \vec{A}_{\rm gs} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} &\leq C \left\| g\hat{\chi} * \mathfrak{Re} \langle -i\vec{\nabla} u_{\rm gs} + \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{\sigma} u_{\rm gs}, u_{\rm gs} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} + C \left\| g\hat{\chi} * \left[(g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs}) \left| u_{\rm gs} \right|_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}^{2} \right] \right\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} \\ &\leq C |g| \left\| \frac{\chi}{|k|} \right\|_{L^{2} + L^{3,\infty}} \left\| u_{\rm gs} \right\|_{H^{1}} + C g^{2} \left\| \frac{\chi}{|k|} \right\|_{L^{2} + L^{3,\infty}}^{2} \left\| \vec{A}_{\rm gs} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \left\| u_{\rm gs} \right\|_{H^{1}} \\ &\leq 2 C R_{V} \mathbf{g}_{\chi} \,. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.33)$$

Next using (3.26), the fact that $R_{E_V} \Pi_V^{\perp} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Q}_V^*, \mathcal{Q}_V)$, the continuous embedding $L^2 \subset \mathcal{Q}_V^*$, (3.33) and Lemma 2.4, we obtain

$$\left\|\varphi_{\rm gs}\right\|_{\mathcal{Q}_V} \le C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^2,$$

for some constant $C_V > 0$.

Let us now prove (3.30) starting from the formula given in (3.3) for \vec{A}_{gs} . Note that the constant C_V might change from one line to the other. Applying Lemma 2.5 first and then Lemma 2.4, the boundedness of u_{gs} in \mathcal{Q}_V and (3.29),

$$\begin{aligned} \|(-\Delta)^{-1}g\hat{\chi} * \mathfrak{Re} \langle (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{gs})u_{gs}, u_{gs} \rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2} \|_{\dot{H}^1} &\leq C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi} \| (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{gs})u_{gs} \|_{L^2} \| u_{gs} \|_{H^1} \\ &\leq C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^2 \| \vec{A}_{gs} \|_{\dot{H}^1} \| u_{gs} \|_{H^1}^2 \leq C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^3 \,. \tag{3.34} \end{aligned}$$

By Lemma 2.4, the boundedness of u_{gs} in \mathcal{Q}_V and (3.28),

$$\begin{aligned} \|(-\Delta)^{-1}g\hat{\chi}*\mathfrak{Re}\langle -i\vec{\nabla}u_{\mathrm{gs}}, u_{\mathrm{gs}}\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \\ &\leq \|g\hat{\chi}*\mathfrak{Re}\langle i\vec{\nabla}\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}}, \Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}}\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} + 2\|g\hat{\chi}*\langle\vec{\nabla}\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}}, \varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} + \|g\hat{\chi}*\langle\vec{\nabla}\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}, \varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} \\ &\leq 0 + C_{V}\mathbf{g}_{\chi}\|\vec{\nabla}\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{L^{2}}\|\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} + C_{V}\mathbf{g}_{\chi}\|\vec{\nabla}\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{L^{2}}\|\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \leq C_{V}\mathbf{g}_{\chi}^{3}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.35)

Applying Lemma 2.5 first, then the boundedness of u_{gs} in \mathcal{Q}_V and (3.28), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|(-\Delta)^{-1}g\hat{\chi}*\mathfrak{Re}\langle\vec{\nabla}\wedge\vec{\sigma}\,u_{\mathrm{gs}},u_{\mathrm{gs}}\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} - (-\Delta)^{-1}g\hat{\chi}*\mathfrak{Re}\langle\vec{\nabla}\wedge\vec{\sigma}\,\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}},\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}}\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \\ &\leq 2\|g\hat{\chi}*\langle\vec{\nabla}\wedge\vec{\sigma}\,\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}},\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}}\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} + \|g\hat{\chi}*\langle\vec{\nabla}\wedge\vec{\sigma}\,\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}},\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} \\ &\leq C_{V}\mathbf{g}_{\chi}\|\vec{\nabla}\wedge\vec{\sigma}\,\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{L^{2}}(\|\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{H^{1}} + \|\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{H^{1}}) \leq C_{V}\mathbf{g}_{\chi}^{3}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.36)$$

Then, from $\vec{\nabla} \wedge \langle u, \vec{\sigma}u \rangle = 2 \Re \mathfrak{e} \langle u, \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{\sigma}u \rangle$ the equality

$$(-\Delta)^{-1}g\hat{\chi} * 2\mathfrak{Re}\left\langle\vec{\nabla}\wedge\vec{\sigma}\,\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}},\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}}\right\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} = (-\Delta)^{-1}g\hat{\chi} * \vec{\nabla}u_{V}^{2}\wedge\vec{\omega}_{\mathrm{gs}}$$

follows, which, along with (3.34), (3.35) and (3.36), yields (3.30).

Finally, since $\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{A}_{gs} = \vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{A}_{gs}^{[1]} = 0$, using the formula $\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{A} = -\Delta \vec{A} - \vec{\nabla} (\vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{A})$,

$$\left\|\vec{\nabla} \wedge (\vec{A}_{\rm gs} - \vec{A}_{\rm gs}^{[1]})\right\|_{L^2} = \left\|\vec{A}_{\rm gs} - \vec{A}_{\rm gs}^{[1]}\right\|_{\dot{H}^1}$$

This concludes the proof of Lemma 3.7.

Now we can prove that \vec{A}_{gs} is fully determined by u_{gs} for small g.

Proposition 3.9. Suppose that V satisfies Hypotheses 1 and 2 and that χ satisfies Hypothesis 3. Suppose that the decomposition $V = V_1 + V_2$ of Hypothesis 1 can be chosen such that $E_{V_1} > E_V$. There exists $\varepsilon_V > 0$ such that, if

$$\mathbf{g}_{\chi} := |g| \left\| \frac{\chi}{|k|} \right\|_{L^2 + L^{3,\infty}} \le \varepsilon_V,$$

then if $(u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}_{\rm gs})$ and $(u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}'_{\rm gs})$ are minimizers of \mathcal{E} , necessarily $\vec{A}_{\rm gs} = \vec{A}'_{\rm gs}$.

Proof. In this proof we drop the indices gs to simplify the notations. For sufficiently small \mathbf{g}_{χ} , if (u, \vec{A}) and $(u, \vec{A'})$ are minimizers, (3.3) yields

$$\vec{A} - \vec{A}' = -32\pi^3 (-\Delta)^{-1} g\hat{\chi} * \left[(g\hat{\chi} * (\vec{A} - \vec{A}')) |u|_{\mathbb{C}^2}^2 \right].$$

It follows from Lemmata 2.5 and 2.4 that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\vec{A} - \vec{A}'\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} &= 32\pi^{3} \|g\hat{\chi} * [(g\hat{\chi} * (\vec{A} - \vec{A}'))|u|_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}^{2}]\|_{\dot{H}^{-1}} \\ &\leq C\mathbf{g}_{\chi} \|(g\hat{\chi} * (\vec{A} - \vec{A}'))u\|_{L^{2}} \|u\|_{H^{1}} \\ &\leq C^{2}\mathbf{g}_{\chi}^{2} \|\vec{A} - \vec{A}'\|_{\dot{H}^{1}} \|u\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \\ &\leq C_{V}^{2}\mathbf{g}_{\chi}^{2} \|\vec{A} - \vec{A}'\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}, \end{aligned}$$

which implies that, for sufficiently small \mathbf{g}_{χ} , $\vec{A} = \vec{A'}$.

3.4. Expansion of the minimum at small coupling. In this section, we prove Proposition 1.9, by establishing the asymptotic expansion (1.19).

Proof of Proposition 1.9. Recall that

$$E_{V} = \mathcal{E}_{V}(u_{\rm gs}, \vec{A}_{\rm gs}) = \underbrace{\langle \vec{u}_{\rm gs}, \vec{H}_{V} u_{\rm gs} \rangle}_{(iii)} - 2 \underbrace{\Re \mathfrak{e} \langle -i \vec{\nabla} u_{\rm gs}, (g \hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs}) u_{\rm gs} \rangle}_{(iii)} + \underbrace{\langle u_{\rm gs}, (g \hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\rm gs})^{2} u_{\rm gs} \rangle}_{(iv)} + \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \underbrace{\|\vec{A}_{\rm gs}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2}}_{(v)}.$$

For (i), using that $H_V \Pi_V u_{gs} = \mu_V \Pi_V u_{gs}$, $\Pi_V u_{gs} \perp \varphi_{gs}$ and (3.28), we obtain

$$|(i) - \mu_V| \le |\langle \varphi_{\rm gs}, H_V \varphi_{\rm gs} \rangle| \le C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^4$$

Next we decompose (ii) into three terms:

$$\begin{aligned} (ii) &= g \Re \mathfrak{e} \left\langle -i \vec{\nabla} \Pi_V u_{\mathrm{gs}}, (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\mathrm{gs}}) \Pi_V u_{\mathrm{gs}} \right\rangle \\ &+ 2g \Re \mathfrak{e} \left\langle -i \vec{\nabla} \Pi_V u_{\mathrm{gs}}, (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\mathrm{gs}}) \varphi_{\mathrm{gs}} \right\rangle + g \Re \mathfrak{e} \left\langle -i \vec{\nabla} \varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}, (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\mathrm{gs}}) \varphi_{\mathrm{gs}} \right\rangle. \end{aligned}$$

The first term vanishes because, with $\Pi_V u_{gs} = \begin{pmatrix} a \\ b \end{pmatrix} u_V$ for some coefficients a and b in \mathbb{C} ,

$$g\mathfrak{Re}\big\langle -i\vec{\nabla}\Pi_V u_{\rm gs}, (\hat{\chi}*\vec{A}_{\rm gs})\Pi_V u_{\rm gs}\big\rangle = g(|a|^2 + |b|^2)\mathfrak{Re}\big\langle -i\vec{\nabla}u_V, (\hat{\chi}*\vec{A}_{\rm gs})u_V\big\rangle = 0\,,$$

since u_V , $\hat{\chi}$ and \vec{A}_{gs} are real-valued. The next term in (*ii*) is controlled using Cauchy-Schwarz's inequality followed by Lemmata 2.4 and 3.7,

$$\left|\left\langle -i\vec{\nabla}\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}}, (g\hat{\chi}*\vec{A}_{\mathrm{gs}})\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\right\rangle\right| \leq C_{V}\mathbf{g}_{\chi}\|\vec{\nabla}\Pi_{V}u_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{L^{2}}\|\vec{A}_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}\|\varphi_{\mathrm{gs}}\|_{H^{1}} \leq C_{V}\mathbf{g}_{\chi}^{4}$$

The last term in (ii) is bounded by $C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^6$ using similar arguments. Similarly, (iv) is bounded by $C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^4$.

As for (*iii*), using the formula $\int \vec{w_1} \cdot \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{w_2} = \int \vec{w_2} \cdot \vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{w_1}$, we can rewrite

$$(iii) = \int (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{gs}) \cdot \vec{\nabla} \wedge \left\langle u_{gs}, \vec{\sigma} u_{gs} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{C}^2}$$

In this form, it can be shown using the same arguments as before that

$$\left|(iii) - \int (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{gs}^{[1]}) \cdot \vec{\nabla} \wedge u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{gs} \right| \le C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^4,$$

where we recall that $\omega_{\rm gs}$ has been defined in (3.32). Now, thanks to (3.31) and the formula $\vec{\nabla} \wedge \vec{\nabla} \wedge u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{\rm gs} = -\Delta u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{\rm gs} - \vec{\nabla} (\vec{\nabla} \cdot u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{\rm gs})$, we have

$$\int (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{gs}^{[1]}) \cdot \vec{\nabla} \wedge u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{gs} = 16\pi^3 \int (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{\nabla} \wedge u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{gs}) \cdot ((-\Delta)^{-1} g\hat{\chi} * \vec{\nabla} \wedge u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{gs})$$
$$= 16\pi^3 \int (g\hat{\chi} * u_V^2)^2 |\vec{\omega}_{gs}|^2 + 16\pi^3 \int (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{\omega}_{gs} \cdot \vec{\nabla} u_V^2)^2. \quad (3.37)$$

To estimate (v), we use Lemma 3.7, which shows that

$$|(v) - \|\vec{A}_{gs}^{[1]}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2| \le C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^4$$

A direct computation then gives

$$\|\vec{A}_{\rm gs}^{[1]}\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2 = (16\pi^3)^2 \int (g\hat{\chi} * \vec{\nabla} \wedge u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{\rm gs}) \cdot ((-\Delta)^{-1} g\hat{\chi} * \vec{\nabla} \wedge u_V^2 \vec{\omega}_{\rm gs}),$$

namely we obtain the same term as in (3.37), with a different pre-factor.

Putting all together, we have shown that

$$\left| E_V - \mu_V + 8\pi^3 g^2 \left(\int (\hat{\chi} * u_V^2)^2 |\vec{\omega}_{\rm gs}|^2 + \int (\hat{\chi} * \vec{\omega}_{\rm gs} \cdot \vec{\nabla} u_V^2)^2 \right) \right| \le C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^4$$

We have $|1 - |\vec{\omega}_{gs}|^2| \leq C_V \mathbf{g}_{\chi}^4$ (see Remark 3.8). Moreover, in the case of a radial potential V, the ground state u_V of H_V is radial. If in addition χ is radial, then the second term in the right-hand side of the previous equation can be expressed independently of $\vec{\omega}_{gs}$. This directly leads to (1.19).

3.5. Ultraviolet limit of the ground state energies. We suppose in this section that the interaction between the non-relativistic particle and the field is cut-off in the ultraviolet, i.e. that the Maxwell–Schrödinger energy functional is given by (1.20) with $\chi_{\Lambda} = \chi \mathbb{1}_{|k| \leq \Lambda}$, for some ultraviolet parameter $\Lambda > 0$. We then study the limit $\Lambda \to \infty$. In this section we drop the index V for \mathcal{E}_V as the potential remains fixed throughout the section.

As in the previous sections, χ will be fixed such that $\chi/|k|$ lies in $L^2 + L^{3,\infty}$. In particular, we have $\chi_{\Lambda}/|k|$ in L^2 and $\chi_{\Lambda}/\sqrt{|k|}$ in L^2 , which in turn implies that the ultraviolet cut-off Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian

$$\mathbb{H}_{\Lambda} := \left(\vec{\sigma} \cdot \left(-i\vec{\nabla}_x \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} - \vec{\mathbb{A}}(\vec{m}_{\chi_{\Lambda},x})\right)\right)^2 + V \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{\mathrm{f}},$$

identifies to a self-adjoint operator (see Appendix A).

We show that the ground state energies $E_{V,\Lambda}$ defined in (1.21) converge to E_V in the ultraviolet limit $\Lambda \to \infty$. It should be noted that, in general, $|k|^{-1}\chi_{\Lambda}$ does not converge to $|k|^{-1}\chi$ in $L^2 + L^{3,\infty}$. To circumvent this difficulty, we will use the following relation

$$\hat{\chi}_{\Lambda} * \vec{A} = (2\pi)^{-3} \mathcal{F}(\chi_{\Lambda} \bar{\mathcal{F}}(\vec{A})) = (2\pi)^{-3} \mathcal{F}(\chi \bar{\mathcal{F}}(\mathbf{1}_{|-i\vec{\nabla}| \le \Lambda} \vec{A})) = \hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\le \Lambda}, \qquad (3.38)$$

where we have set

$$\vec{A}_{\leq\Lambda} := \mathbb{1}_{|-i\vec{\nabla}|\leq\Lambda}(\vec{A}).$$

Recalling from (1.16) that $\mathcal{A} = \{ \vec{A} \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3) \mid \vec{\nabla} \cdot \vec{A} = 0 \}$, we introduce the subspace

$$\mathcal{A}_{\leq \Lambda} := \{ \vec{A} \in \mathcal{A} \mid \vec{A} = \mathbb{1}_{|-i\vec{\nabla}| \leq \Lambda}(\vec{A}) \}.$$
(3.39)

We then have the following identity.

Lemma 3.10. Suppose that V satisfies Hypothesis 1 and that χ satisfies Hypothesis 3. Then, for all $\Lambda > 0$,

$$E_{V,\Lambda} = \inf_{(u,\vec{A})\in\mathcal{U}\times\mathcal{A}_{\leq\Lambda}} \mathcal{E}(u,\vec{A}).$$

Proof. It suffices to observe that, by (3.38), the following equality holds for all (u, \vec{A}) in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$:

$$\mathcal{E}_{\Lambda}(u,\vec{A}) = \mathcal{E}(u,\vec{A}_{\leq\Lambda}) + \frac{1}{32\pi^3} \|\mathbf{1}_{|-i\vec{\nabla}|\geq\Lambda}(\vec{A})\|_{\dot{H}^1}^2.$$
(3.40)

The statement of the lemma directly follows.

$$\Box$$

If \vec{A} belongs to \dot{H}^1 , we have that $\|\vec{A}_{\leq\Lambda} - \vec{A}\|_{\dot{H}^1} \to 0$ as $\Lambda \to \infty$. Now we can prove the convergence of the ground state energies in the ultraviolet limit.

Proof of Proposition 1.11. For $0 < \Lambda \leq \Lambda'$, we have $\mathcal{A}_{\leq \Lambda} \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{\leq \Lambda'} \subset \mathcal{A}$ and hence, by Lemma 3.10,

$$E_V \leq E_{V,\Lambda'} \leq E_{V,\Lambda}.$$

Therefore $\Lambda \mapsto E_{V,\Lambda}$ is non-increasing on $(0,\infty)$, bounded below by E_V , so that we can define

$$E_{V,\infty} := \lim_{\Lambda \to \infty} E_{V,\Lambda} \ge E_V$$

To show that $E_{V,\infty} \leq E_V$, let $\varepsilon > 0$ and let $(u_{\varepsilon}, \vec{A}_{\varepsilon})$ in $\mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{A}$ be such that $\mathcal{E}(u_{\varepsilon}, \vec{A}_{\varepsilon}) \leq E_V + \varepsilon$. Using (3.40), we have

$$E_{V,\Lambda} \leq \mathcal{E}_{\Lambda}(u_{\varepsilon}, \vec{A}_{\varepsilon}) = \mathcal{E}(u_{\varepsilon}, \vec{A}_{\varepsilon, \leq \Lambda}) + \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{|-i\vec{\nabla}| \geq \Lambda} \vec{A}_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2}$$
$$\leq E_{V} + \varepsilon + \mathcal{E}(u_{\varepsilon}, \vec{A}_{\varepsilon, \leq \Lambda}) - \mathcal{E}(u_{\varepsilon}, \vec{A}_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{|-i\vec{\nabla}| \geq \Lambda} \vec{A}_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2}.$$

A direct computation shows that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathcal{E}(u_{\varepsilon}, \vec{A}_{\varepsilon, \leq \Lambda}) - \mathcal{E}(u_{\varepsilon}, \vec{A}_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{1}{32\pi^{3}} \left\| \mathbf{1}_{|-i\vec{\nabla}| \geq \Lambda} \vec{A}_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}^{2} \right| \\ &\leq 2|g| \left| \left\langle \vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla}u_{\varepsilon}), \vec{\sigma} \cdot \hat{\chi} * (\vec{A}_{\varepsilon, \leq \Lambda} - \vec{A}_{\varepsilon})u_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle_{L^{2}} \right| \\ &+ g^{2} \left| \left\| (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\varepsilon, \leq \Lambda})u_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} - \left\| (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\varepsilon})u_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right|. \quad (3.41) \end{aligned}$$

Applying Lemma 2.4 gives

$$\left|\left\langle \vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla}u_{\varepsilon}), \vec{\sigma} \cdot \hat{\chi} * (\vec{A}_{\varepsilon,\leq\Lambda} - \vec{A}_{\varepsilon})u_{\varepsilon}\right\rangle_{L^{2}}\right| \leq C_{\chi,u_{\varepsilon}} \left\|\vec{A}_{\varepsilon,\leq\Lambda} - \vec{A}_{\varepsilon}\right\|_{\dot{H}^{1}},$$

for some constant $C_{\chi,u_{\varepsilon}}$ depending on χ and u_{ε} . Likewise,

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \left\| (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\varepsilon, \leq \Lambda}) u_{\varepsilon} \right\|^{2} - \left\| (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\varepsilon}) u_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right\| \\ & \leq \left\| \left(\hat{\chi} * (\vec{A}_{\varepsilon, \leq \Lambda} - \vec{A}_{\varepsilon}) \right) u_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}} \left(\left\| (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\varepsilon, \leq \Lambda}) u_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}} + \left\| (\hat{\chi} * \vec{A}_{\varepsilon}) u_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{L^{2}} \right) \\ & \leq C_{\chi, u_{\varepsilon}, \vec{A}_{\varepsilon}} \left\| \vec{A}_{\varepsilon, \leq \Lambda} - \vec{A}_{\varepsilon} \right\|_{\dot{H}^{1}}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\|\vec{A}_{\varepsilon,\leq\Lambda} - \vec{A}_{\varepsilon}\|_{\dot{H}^1} \to 0$ as $\Lambda \to \infty$, inserting the previous estimates into (3.41) and letting $\Lambda \to \infty$, we obtain

$$E_{V,\infty} \leq E_V + \varepsilon.$$

Since $\varepsilon > 0$ is arbitrary, this concludes the proof of the proposition.

APPENDIX A. OPERATORS IN FOCK SPACE, SELF-ADJOINTNESS

In this appendix we set up some notations and give the proof of the self-adjointness of the Pauli-Fierz operator \mathbb{H} . We recall the definitions of standard operators in Fock space. We only give here formal definitions, referring the reader to e.g. [19, 45] for more details.

Let us consider a Hilbert space \mathfrak{h} and its associated symmetric Fock space $\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h}) := \bigoplus_{n=0}^{\infty} \bigvee^n \mathfrak{h}$, with $\bigvee^0 \mathfrak{h} := \mathbb{C}$. Let $h \in \mathfrak{h}$. For $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the creation and annihilation operators are respectively defined as

$$a^*(h)_{|\bigvee^n \mathfrak{h}} = \sqrt{(n+1)} |h\rangle \bigvee \mathbf{I}_{\bigvee^n \mathfrak{h}}, \quad a(h)_{|\bigvee^n \mathfrak{h}} = \sqrt{n} \langle h| \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\bigvee^{n-1} \mathfrak{h}}, \quad a(h)_{|\mathbb{C}} = 0.$$

The field operator $\Phi(h)$ is then defined as

$$\Phi(h) = (a(h) + a^*(h))/\sqrt{2}.$$
(A.1)

Let ω be a self-adjoint operator on \mathfrak{h} . The second quantization of ω is the operator on Fock space defined by

$$\mathrm{d}\Gamma(\omega)_{|\mathsf{V}^{n}\mathfrak{h}} = \sum_{k=1}^{n} \mathbf{I}_{\mathsf{V}^{k-1}\mathfrak{h}} \otimes \omega \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathsf{V}^{n-k}\mathfrak{h}}, \quad \mathrm{d}\Gamma(\omega)_{|\mathbb{C}} = 0.$$

The coherent state of parameter $f \in \mathfrak{h}$ is defined as

$$\Psi_f := e^{i\Phi\left(\frac{\sqrt{2}}{i}f\right)} \Omega = e^{-\frac{\|f\|_b^2}{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{f^{\otimes n}}{\sqrt{n!}},$$

where Ω stands for the Fock vacuum. Coherent states are eigenvectors of the annihilation operators in the sense that for all $f, h \in \mathfrak{h}$,

$$a(h)\Psi_f = \langle h, f \rangle_h \Psi_f$$
.

This in turn leads to the following equalities:

$$\langle \Psi_f, \Phi(h)\Psi_f \rangle_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})} = 2\mathfrak{Re} \langle h, f \rangle_{\mathfrak{h}}, \quad \langle \Psi_f, \mathrm{d}\Gamma(\omega)\Psi_f \rangle_{\mathfrak{F}_s(\mathfrak{h})} = \langle f, \omega f \rangle_{\mathfrak{h}}.$$
(A.2)

We recall the following estimates, which holds for any non-negative operator ω on \mathfrak{h} , h in the domain of $\omega^{-1/2}$ and Ψ in the domain of $d\Gamma(\omega)^{1/2}$:

$$\|a(h)\Psi\| \le \|\omega^{-\frac{1}{2}}h\|_{\mathfrak{h}}^{2} \|d\Gamma(\omega)^{\frac{1}{2}}\Psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_{\mathfrak{s}}(\mathfrak{h})}^{2}, \tag{A.3}$$

$$\|a^{*}(h)\Psi\| \leq \|\omega^{-\frac{1}{2}}h\|_{\mathfrak{h}}^{2} \|d\Gamma(\omega)^{\frac{1}{2}}\Psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_{s}(\mathfrak{h})}^{2} + \|f\|_{\mathfrak{h}}^{2} \|\Psi\|_{\mathfrak{F}_{s}(\mathfrak{h})}^{2}.$$
(A.4)

The next proposition establishes the self-adjointness of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian \mathbb{H} of the standard model of non-relativistic QED (see (1.9)) under our assumptions. We recall a proof for the convenience of the reader.

Proposition A.1 (Self-adjointness of \mathbb{H}). Suppose that $V = V_+ - V_-$ belongs to $L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^+)$ and that V_- is infinitesimally small with respect to $-\Delta$ in the sense of quadratic forms on $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Suppose in addition that $\chi : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}$ is such that both $|k|^{-1/2}\chi$ and $|k|^{-1}\chi$ are in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$. Then the Pauli-Fierz hamiltonian \mathbb{H} is a self-adjoint operator with form domain

$$\mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H}) = \mathcal{Q}\left(H_{V_{+}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \otimes \mathrm{d}\Gamma(|k|)\right)$$

Proof. Let $\mathcal{Q}_+ := \mathcal{Q}\left(H_{V_+} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2} \otimes \mathrm{d}\Gamma(|k|)\right)$. We claim that the following form is closed on \mathcal{Q}_+ :

$$\begin{split} q_{+}(\Psi_{1},\Psi_{2}) &:= \left\langle \vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} - \vec{\mathbb{A}}(\vec{m}_{x}))\Psi_{1}, \vec{\sigma} \cdot (-i\vec{\nabla} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} - \vec{\mathbb{A}}(\vec{m}_{x}))\Psi_{2} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \\ &+ \left\langle (V_{+}^{1/2} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}})\Psi_{1}, (V_{+}^{1/2} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}})\Psi_{2} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \\ &+ \left\langle (\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{f}^{1/2})\Psi_{1}, (\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \otimes \mathbb{H}_{f}^{1/2})\Psi_{2} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \,. \end{split}$$

Let $(\Psi_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ in $\mathcal{Q}^{\mathbb{N}}_+$ be such that $\Psi_n \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} \Psi$ and $(q_+(\Psi_n, \Psi_n))_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges. We show that Ψ is in \mathcal{Q}_+ and that $q_+(\Psi_n - \Psi, \Psi_n - \Psi) \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} 0$. Considering the closed form on \mathcal{Q}_+ defined by

$$\begin{split} q_{0}(\Psi_{1},\Psi_{2}) &:= \left\langle (-i\vec{\nabla}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}})\Psi_{1}, (-i\vec{\nabla}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}})\Psi_{2} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \\ &+ \left\langle (V_{+}^{1/2}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}})\Psi_{1}, (V_{+}^{1/2}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}})\Psi_{2} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \\ &+ \left\langle (\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\otimes\mathbb{H}_{f}^{1/2})\Psi_{1}, (\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}}\otimes\mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}}\otimes\mathbb{H}_{f}^{1/2})\Psi_{2} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}, \end{split}$$

it is not difficult to verify, using (A.3)–(A.4), that there exists a positive constant C such that, for all $\varepsilon > 0$, for all Ψ in Q_+ ,

$$(1 - C\varepsilon)q_0(\Psi, \Psi) \le q_+(\Psi, \Psi) + C\varepsilon \left(\left\| (\mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^2} \otimes \mathbb{H}_f^{1/2})\Psi \right\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + \left\|\Psi\right\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \right).$$
(A.5)

This implies that $(q_0(\Psi_n, \Psi_n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a Cauchy sequence and hence, since q_0 is closed on \mathcal{Q}_+ , we deduce that $\Psi \in \mathcal{Q}_+$. Finally, since, similarly as for (A.5), we have

$$q_+(\Psi, \Psi) \le (1 - C\varepsilon)q_0(\Psi, \Psi),$$

we conclude that

$$q_+(\Psi_n - \Psi, \Psi_n - \Psi) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0.$$

We have shown that the quadratic form q_+ is positive and closed on \mathcal{Q}_+ . In particular (see e.g. [31, Chap. 6, Thm. 2.1]), this ensures that there exists a positive self-adjoint operator H_+ such that, for all $\Psi_1, \Psi_2 \in \mathcal{Q}_+$, $q_+(\Psi_1, \Psi_2) = \langle H_+^{1/2}\Psi_1, H_+^{1/2}\Psi_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$. Since V_- is infinitesimally form bounded with respect to $-\Delta$, one easily deduces that it is also infinitesimally form bounded with respect to H_+ . The KLMN theorem then allows us to conclude that \mathbb{H} identifies to a self-adjoint operator with form domain

$$\mathcal{Q}(\mathbb{H}) = \mathcal{Q}_{+} = \mathcal{Q}\left(H_{V_{+}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{f}} + \mathbf{I}_{\mathrm{el}} \otimes \mathbf{I}_{\mathbb{C}^{2}} \otimes \mathrm{d}\Gamma(|k|)\right).$$

This concludes the proof.

References

- Z. Ammari and F. Nier. Mean field limit for bosons and infinite dimensional phase-space analysis. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 9(8):1503–1574, 2008.
- [2] A. Arai and M. Hirokawa. On the existence and uniqueness of ground states of a generalized spin-boson model. J. Funct. Anal., 151(2):455–503, 1997.

- [3] V. Bach, S. Breteaux, and T. Tzaneteas. Minimization of the energy of the nonrelativistic one-electron pauli-fierz model over quasifree states. *Documenta Mathematica*, 18:1481–1519, 2013.
- [4] V. Bach, J. Fröhlich, and A. Pizzo. Infrared-finite algorithms in QED. II. The expansion of the groundstate of an atom interacting with the quantized radiation field. Adv. Math., 220(4):1023–1074, 2009.
- [5] V. Bach, J. Fröhlich, and I. M. Sigal. Quantum electrodynamics of confined nonrelativistic particles. Adv. Math., 137(2):299–395, 1998.
- [6] V. Bach, J. Fröhlich, and I. M. Sigal. Spectral analysis for systems of atoms and molecules coupled to the quantized radiation field. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 207(2):249–290, 1999.
- [7] V. Bach and A. Hach. On the ultraviolet limit of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian in the Lieb-Loss model. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 23(6):2207–2245, 2022.
- [8] I. Bejenaru and D. Tataru. Global wellposedness in the energy space for the Maxwell-Schrödinger system. Commun. Math. Phys., 288(1):145–198, 2009.
- [9] V. Benci and D. Fortunato. Solitons in Schrödinger-Maxwell equations. J. Fixed Point Theory Appl., 15(1):101–132, 2014.
- [10] J. Bennett, A. Carbery, M. Christ, and T. Tao. The Brascamp-Lieb inequalities: Finiteness, structure and extremals. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 17(5):1343–1415, 2008.
- [11] N. Bez, S. Lee, S. Nakamura, and Y. Sawano. Sharpness of the Brascamp-Lieb inequality in Lorentz spaces. *Electron. Res. Announc. Math. Sci.*, 24:53–63, 2017.
- [12] S. Breteaux, J. Faupin, and J. Payet. Quasi-Classical Ground States. I. Linearly Coupled Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians. preprint arXiv:2207.06053, 2022.
- [13] M. Colin and T. Watanabe. Cauchy problem for the nonlinear Schrödinger equation coupled with the Maxwell equation. Ann. Henri Lebesgue, 3:67–85, 2020.
- [14] M. Correggi and M. Falconi. Effective potentials generated by field interaction in the quasi-classical limit. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 19(1):189–235, 2018.
- [15] M. Correggi, M. Falconi, and M. Olivieri. Ground State Properties in the Quasi-Classical Regime. Anal. PDE. to appear.
- [16] M. Correggi, M. Falconi, and M. Olivieri. Quasi-classical dynamics. J. Eur. Math. Soc. to appear.
- [17] M. Correggi, M. Falconi, and M. Olivieri. Magnetic Schrödinger operators as the quasiclassical limit of Pauli-Fierz-type models. J. Spectr. Theory, 9(4):1287–1325, 2019.
- [18] H. L. Cycon, R. G. Froese, W. Kirsch, and B. Simon. Schrödinger operators, with application to quantum mechanics and global geometry. Springer Study edition. Texts and Monographs in Physics. Berlin etc.: Springer-Verlag. ix, 319 pp.; DM 56.00 (1987)., 1987.
- [19] J. Dereziński and C. Gérard. Asymptotic completeness in quantum field theory. Massive Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians. *Rev. Math. Phys.*, 11(4):383–450, 1999.
- [20] J. Fröhlich, E. H. Lieb, and M. Loss. Stability of coulomb systems with magnetic fields.
 i: The one-electron atom. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 104:251–270, 1986.
- [21] C. Gérard. On the existence of ground states for massless Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonians. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 1(3):443–459, 2000.
- [22] J. Ginibre and G. Velo. Long range scattering for the Maxwell-Schrödinger system with large magnetic field data and small Schrödinger data. *Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci.*,

42(2):421-459, 2006.

- [23] L. Grafakos. Classical Fourier analysis, volume 249 of Grad. Texts Math. New York, NY: Springer, 3rd ed. edition, 2014.
- [24] M. Griesemer. Exponential decay and ionization thresholds in non-relativistic quantum electrodynamics. J. Funct. Anal., 210(2):321–340, 2004.
- [25] M. Griesemer and D. Hasler. Analytic perturbation theory and renormalization analysis of matter coupled to quantized radiation. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 10(3):577–621, 2009.
- [26] M. Griesemer, E. H. Lieb, and M. Loss. Ground states in non-relativistic quantum electrodynamics. *Invent. Math.*, 145(3):557–595, 2001.
- [27] Y. Guo, K. Nakamitsu, and W. Strauss. Global finite-energy solutions of the Maxwell-Schrödinger system. Commun. Math. Phys., 170(1):181–196, 1995.
- [28] D. Hasler and I. Herbst. On the self-adjointness and domain of Pauli-Fierz type Hamiltonians. Rev. Math. Phys., 20(7):787–800, 2008.
- [29] D. Hasler and I. Herbst. Ground state properties in non-relativistic QED. In Mathematical results in quantum physics. Proceedings of the QMath11 conference, Hradec Králové, Czech Republc, September 6–10, 2010. Special session in honour of Ari Laptev. With DVD-ROM, pages 203–207. Hackensack, NJ: World Scientific, 2011.
- [30] F. Hiroshima. Self-adjointness of the Pauli-Fierz Hamiltonian for arbitrary values of coupling constants. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 3(1):171–201, 2002.
- [31] T. Kato. Perturbation theory for linear operators. Corr. printing of the 2nd ed, volume 132 of Grundlehren Math. Wiss. Springer, Cham, 1980.
- [32] T. F. Kieffer. Time global finite-energy weak solutions to the many-body Maxwell-Pauli equations. Commun. Math. Phys., 377(2):1131–1162, 2020.
- [33] P. G. Lemarié-Rieusset. Recent developments in the Navier-Stokes problem, volume 431 of Chapman Hall/CRC Res. Notes Math. Boca Raton, FL: Chapman & Hall/CRC, 2002.
- [34] N. Leopold and P. Pickl. Derivation of the maxwell-schrödinger equations from the pauli-fierz hamiltonian. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 52(5):4900–4936, 2020.
- [35] E. H. Lieb and M. Loss. Self-energy of electrons in non-perturbative QED. In Differential equations and mathematical physics. Proceedings of an international conference, Birmingham, AL, USA, March 16–20, 1999, pages 279–293. Providence, RI: American Mathematical Society (AMS); Cambridge, MA: International Press, 2000.
- [36] P.-L. Lions. The concentration-compactness principle in the calculus of variations. The locally compact case. I. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Anal. Non Linéaire, 1:109–145, 1984.
- [37] P.-L. Lions. The concentration-compactness principle in the calculus of variations. The locally compact case. II. Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré, Anal. Non Linéaire, 1:223–283, 1984.
- [38] Y. Liu and T. Wada. Long range scattering for the Maxwell-Schrödinger system in the Lorenz gauge without any restriction on the size of data. J. Differ. Equations, 269(4):2798–2852, 2020.
- [39] M. Loss, T. Miyao, and H. Spohn. Kramers degeneracy theorem in nonrelativistic QED. Lett. Math. Phys., 89(1):21–31, 2009.
- [40] C. Ma and L. Cao. A Crank-Nicolson finite element method and the optimal error estimates for the modified time-dependent Maxwell-Schrödinger equations. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 56(1):369–396, 2018.

- [41] K. Nakamitsu and M. Tsutsumi. The Cauchy problem for the coupled Maxwell-Schrödinger equations. J. Math. Phys., 27:211–216, 1986.
- [42] M. Nakamura and T. Wada. Global existence and uniqueness of solutions to the Maxwell-Schrödinger equations. Commun. Math. Phys., 276(2):315–339, 2007.
- [43] R. O'Neil. Convolution operators and L(p, q) spaces. Duke Math. J., 30:129–142, 1963.
- [44] W. Pauli and M. Fierz. Zur Theorie der Emission langwelliger Lichtquanten. Nuovo Cimento, n. Ser., 15:167–188, 1938.
- [45] M. Reed and B. Simon. Methods of Modern Mathematical Physics II: Fourier Analysis, Self-Adjointness. Elsevier Science, 1975.
- [46] A. Shimomura. Modified wave operators for Maxwell-Schrödinger equations in three space dimensions. Ann. Henri Poincaré, 4(4):661–683, 2003.
- [47] I. M. Sigal. Ground state and resonances in the standard model of the non-relativistic QED. J. Stat. Phys., 134(5-6):899–939, 2009.
- [48] H. Spohn. Dynamics of charged particles and their radiation field. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- [49] Y. Tsutsumi. Global existence and asymptotic behavior of solutions for the Maxwell-Schrödinger equations in three space dimensions. *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 151(3):543– 576, 1993.
- [50] T. Wada. Smoothing effects for Schrödinger equations with electro-magnetic potentials and applications to the Maxwell-Schrödinger equations. J. Funct. Anal., 263(1):1–24, 2012.
- [51] L. Y. H. Yap. Some remarks on convolution operators and L(p,q) spaces. Duke Math. J., 36:647–658, 1969.

(S. Breteaux) UNIVERSITÉ DE LORRAINE, CNRS, IECL, F-57000 METZ, FRANCE *E-mail address*: sebastien.breteaux@univ-lorraine.fr

(J. Faupin) UNIVERSITÉ DE LORRAINE, CNRS, IECL, F-57000 METZ, FRANCE *E-mail address*: jeremy.faupin@univ-lorraine.fr

(J. Payet) UNIVERSITÉ DE LORRAINE, CNRS, IECL, F-57000 METZ, FRANCE *E-mail address*: jimmy.payet@univ-lorraine.fr